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Summary of the Material Risks Associated with Our Business

Our business is subject to numerous risks and uncertainties that you should be aware of in evaluating our business. These risks are described
more fully in Item 1A - Risk Factors, and include, but are not limited to, the following:

. We may not be successful in our efforts to use our differentiated asset-centric drug discovery and development approach to build a pipeline
of product candidates with commercial value.

. A single or limited number of programs or product candidates may comprise a large proportion of our value.

. We face challenges, risks and expenses related to the integration of the operations of our Centessa Subsidiaries, as well as the
management of the expected growth in the scale and complexity of our operations.

. We, and our subsidiaries, have incurred net losses since inception, and we expect to continue to incur losses for the foreseeable future and
may never achieve or maintain profitability.

. We will need substantial additional funds to advance development of our product candidates, and we cannot guarantee that we will have
sufficient funds available in the future to develop and commercialize our current or future product candidates.

. Our credit facility and payment obligations under the Note Purchase Agreement with Oberland Capital contain operating and financial
covenants that restrict our business and financing activities, are subject to acceleration in specified circumstances and may adversely affect
our financial position or results of operations and our ability to raise additional capital which in turn may increase our vulnerability to adverse
clinical or regulatory developments or economic or business downturns or which may result in Oberland Capital taking possession of our
assets and disposing of any collateral.

. Our product candidates are in various stages of development, including many in preclinical stages, and may fail in development or suffer
delays that materially adversely affect their commercial viability.

. We may not be successful in our efforts to identify, discover, in-license or otherwise acquire additional product candidates and may fail to
capitalize on programs or product candidates that may represent a greater commercial opportunity or for which there is a greater likelihood
of success.

. Success in preclinical studies or early clinical trials may not be indicative of results obtained in later trials.

. We may encounter substantial delays or challenges in the initiation, conduct or completion of our clinical trials, and the results of clinical
development are uncertain.

. Even if we complete the necessary preclinical studies and clinical trials, the marketing approval process is expensive, time-consuming and
uncertain and may prevent us from obtaining approvals for the commercialization of our product candidates.

. We may be unable to obtain U.S. or foreign regulatory approval and, as a result, unable to commercialize our product candidates.

. We rely, and expect to continue to rely, on third parties to conduct our preclinical studies, clinical trials, and manufacturing activities and if
these third parties perform in an unsatisfactory manner, our business could be substantially harmed.

d Preclinical and clinical development is a long, expensive and uncertain process, we have terminated certain of our programs and may
further terminate one or more of our current preclinical and/or clinical development programs.
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Summary of the Material Risks Associated with Our Business (continued)

. We could experience manufacturing problems that result in delays in our development or commercialization of our programs or otherwise
harm our business.

. Business interruptions resulting from the Russia-Ukraine and Israeli-Palestinian conflict could cause a disruption in the development of our
product candidates and adversely impact our business.

. If we are unable to obtain and maintain sufficient patent and other intellectual property protection for our product candidates and technology
or other product candidates that may be identified, or if the scope of the intellectual property protection obtained is not sufficiently broad, our
competitors could develop and commercialize product candidates similar or identical to the product candidates, and our ability to
successfully commercialize the product candidates and other product candidates that we may pursue may be impaired.

. The patent protection we obtain for our product candidates and technology may be challenged or not sufficient enough to provide us with
any competitive advantage.

. A number of our programs and associated product candidates are heavily dependent on licensed intellectual property. If we were to lose our
rights to licensed intellectual property, we may not be able to continue developing or commercializing our product candidates, if approved. If
we breach any of the agreements under which we license the use, development and commercialization rights to our product candidates or
technology from third parties or, in certain cases, we fail to meet certain development deadlines, we could lose license rights that are
important to our business.

. We have never commercialized a product candidate and we may lack the necessary expertise, personnel and resources to successfully
commercialize any of our products that receive regulatory approval on our own or together with collaborators.

. Our international operations may expose us to business, regulatory, legal, political, operational, financial, pricing and reimbursement risks
associated with doing business across multiple jurisdictions outside of the United States.

. We are an emerging growth company and a smaller reporting company and we cannot be certain if the reduced reporting requirements
applicable to emerging growth companies and smaller reporting companies will make our ADSs less attractive to investors.

. We previously had material weaknesses in our internal control systems over financial reporting, which have been remediated. We may
identify new material weaknesses in the future that may cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations or result in material misstatements
in our financial statements. If we fail to remediate any new material weaknesses, we may not be able to report our financial results
accurately or to prevent fraud.

. If we fail to develop or maintain an effective system of disclosure controls and internal control over financial reporting, our ability to produce
timely and accurate financial statements or comply with applicable regulations could be impaired.

. Holders of ADSs may be subject to limitations on the transfer of their ADSs and the withdrawal of the underlying ordinary shares.

. While we do not believe we were a “passive foreign investment company” (“PFIC”) in 2022, there is uncertainty as to whether we are or will
be a PFIC in the past or in the future. If we are a PFIC, there could be material adverse U.S. federal income tax consequences to U.S.
holders.
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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (“10-Q”), contains express or implied forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, that involve substantial risks and
uncertainties. In some cases, forward-looking statements may be identified by the words “may,” “might,” “will,” “could,” “would,” “should,” “expect,”
“intend,” “plan,” “objective,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “predict,” “potential,” “continue,” “ongoing,” “aim,” “seek,” “strive,” or the negative of these
terms, or other comparable terminology intended to identify statements about the future. These statements involve known and unknown risks,
uncertainties and other important factors that may cause our actual results, levels of activity, performance or achievements to be materially different from
the information expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements. The forward-looking statements and opinions contained in this 10-Q are based
upon information available to our management as of the date of this 10-Q, and while we believe such information forms a reasonable basis for such
statements, such information may be limited or incomplete, and our statements should not be read to indicate that we have conducted an exhaustive
inquiry into, or review of, all potentially available relevant information. Forward-looking statements contained in this 10-Q include, but are not limited to,
statements about:

"o "o,

« theinitiation, timing, progress and results (preliminary, interim or final) of our preclinical studies and clinical trials, and our research and
development programs;

« our ability to advance our product candidates into, and successfully complete, clinical trials;

« our reliance on the success of our product candidates and our pipeline programs;

« our ability to utilize our screening platform to identify and advance additional product candidates into clinical development;

« our ability to become the partner of choice to attract founder-subject matter experts with high conviction programs;

« the timing or likelihood of regulatory filings and approvals;

« the impact of inflation on increasing costs of labor, research, manufacturing and clinical trial expenses;

« the impact of the Russia-Ukraine war, the Israel-Palestinian conflicts and tensions in US-China relations on our business and operations;

« the commercialization of our product candidates, if approved;
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« our ability to develop sales and marketing capabilities;

« the pricing, coverage and reimbursement of our product candidates, if approved;

« the implementation of our business model, strategic plans for our business, product candidates and technology;

« the scope of protection we are able to establish and maintain for intellectual property rights covering our product candidates and technology;

« our ability to operate our business without infringing the intellectual property rights and proprietary technology of third parties;

« cost associated with prosecuting and maintaining our intellectual property and with defending intellectual property infringement, product
liability and other claims;

« legal and regulatory development in the United States, the European Union, the United Kingdom and other jurisdictions;

« estimates of our expenses, future revenues, capital requirements and our needs for additional financing;

« the potential benefits of strategic collaboration agreements and our ability to negotiate and enter into strategic arrangements;

« our ability to identify collaboration opportunities and to establish and maintain collaborations;

« our ability to judiciously manage and allocate our cash;

¢ our expectations on our anticipated cash runway;

« our ability to obtain additional funding;

« our ability to fulfill our obligations under the Note Purchase Agreement, as amended, with Three Peaks Capital Solutions Aggregator Fund
(the “Purchaser”), and Cocoon SA LLC (the “Purchaser Agent”), an affiliate of Oberland Capital Management LLC (collectively “Oberland
Capital™);

« the rate and degree of market acceptance of any approved products;

« developments relating to our competitors and our industry, including competing therapies and our ability to respond to such developments;

« our ability to effectively manage our anticipated growth;

« our ability to attract and retain qualified employees and key personnel;

* our expectations regarding the period during which we qualify as a smaller reporting company and as an emerging growth company under
the JOBS Act;

« statements regarding future revenue, hiring plans, expenses, capital expenditures, capital requirements and share performance;

« our expected use of proceeds of our IPO and any additional capital raise;

« the future trading price of the ADSs and impact of securities analysts’ reports on these prices; and

« other risks and uncertainties, including those listed under the caption “Risk Factors.”

You should refer to the section titled “Item 1A. Risk Factors” in this 10-Q for a discussion of important factors that may cause our actual results to
differ materially from those expressed or implied by our forward-looking statements. As a result of these factors, we cannot be assured that the forward-
looking statements in this 10-Q will prove to be accurate. Furthermore, if our forward-looking statements prove to be inaccurate, the inaccuracy may be
material. In light of the significant uncertainties in these forward-looking statements, these statements should not be regarded as a representation or
warranty by us or any other person that we will achieve our objectives and plans in any specified time frame, or at all. We undertake no obligation to
publicly update any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as required by law.

You should read this 10-Q and the documents that we reference in this 10-Q and have filed as exhibits to this 10-Q completely and with the
understanding that our actual future results may be materially different from what we expect. We qualify all of our forward-looking statements by these
cautionary statements.
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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1. Financial Statements

Centessa Pharmaceuticals plc
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(unaudited)
(amounts in thousands except share and per share data)

September 30, 2023

December 31, 2022

Assets

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 171,498 $ 393,644
Short-term investments 109,843 —
Tax incentive receivable 28,459 24,166
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 22,653 19,937
Total current assets 332,453 437,747
Property and equipment, net 1,102 1,168
Operating lease right-of-use assets 12,130 —
Deferred tax asset 29,577 3,512
Other, net 2,102 1,880
Total assets $ 377,364 $ 444,307
Liabilities and shareholders’ equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 10,848 $ 13,836
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 24,106 24,502
Total current liabilities 34,954 38,338
Long term debt 74,000 69,800
Operating lease liabilities 9,020 —
Total liabilities 117,974 108,138
Commitments and contingencies (Note 6)
Shareholders’ equity:
Ordinary shares: £0.002 nominal value: 152,500,000 shares authorized, 97,567,483 issued and outstanding
at September 30, 2023: 152,500,000 shares authorized, 94,843,391 issued and outstanding at
December 31, 2022 271 265
Additional paid-in capital 974,448 939,261
Accumulated other comprehensive loss 779 (1,497)
Accumulated deficit (716,108) (601,860)
Total shareholders’ equity 259,390 336,169
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity $ 377,364 $ 444,307

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited interim consolidated financial statements.
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Centessa Pharmaceuticals plc
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss
(unaudited)
(amounts in thousands except share and per share data)

Three Months Ended  Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, 2023 September 30, 2022 September 30, 2023

Nine Months Ended
September 30, 2022

Operating expenses:

Research and development $ 28,190 $ 36,744 $ 94,689 $ 127,248
General and administrative 12,019 12,284 41,416 41,432
Change in fair value of contingent value rights — — — 1,980
Loss from operations (40,209) (49,028) (136,105) (170,660)
Interest income 2,953 77 7,543 205
Interest expense (2,541) (1,922) (7,336) (5,074)
Other (expense) income, net (1,677) (3,143) (4,550) 2,412
Loss before income taxes (41,474) (54,016) (140,448) (173,117)
Income tax expense (benefit) (2,826) (141) (26,200) (83)
Net loss (38,648) (53,875) (114,248) (173,034)
Other comprehensive (loss) income:
Foreign currency translation adjustment (419) (553) 1,241 (2,383)
Unrealized gain on available for sale securities, net of tax 252 — 1,035 —
Other comprehensive (loss) income (167) (553) 2,276 (2,383)
Total comprehensive loss $ (38,815) $ (54,428) $ (111,972) $ (175,417)
Net loss per ordinary share - basic and diluted $ (0.40) $ (0.57) $ (1.20) $ (1.86)
Weighted average ordinary shares outstanding - basic and
diluted 96,648,110 94,327,914 95,589,181 92,994,990

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited interim consolidated financial statements.
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Centessa Pharmaceuticals plc
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity
(unaudited)

(amounts in thousands except share data)

Accumulated

Ordinary Shares Additional Other
paid-in Comprehensive Accumulated
Shares Amount capital Income (Loss) Deficit Total

Balance at July 1, 2023 95,299,673 $ 266 $ 952,854 $ 946 $ (677,460) $ 276,606
Issuance of ordinary shares under ATM program, net of issuance

costs 2,040,816 5 14,559 — — 14,564
Stock option exercises 40,994 — 177 — — 177
Share-based compensation expense — — 7,559 — — 7,559
Vesting of ordinary shares 291,734 — — — — —
Shares withheld to pay employee withholding tax on share-based

compensation (105,734) — (701) — — (701)
Foreign currency translation adjustments — — — (419) — (419)
Unrealized gain on available for sale securities, net of tax of $.1

million — — — 252 — 252
Net loss — — — — (38,648) (38,648)
Balance at September 30, 2023 97,567,483 $ 271 $ 974,448 $ 779 $ (716,108) $ 259,390
Balance at July 1, 2022 94,271,917 $ 263 $ 925,730 $ (1,142) $ (504,812) $ 420,039
Stock option exercises 72,834 — 283 — — 283
Share-based compensation expense — — 7,027 — — 7,027
Vesting of ordinary shares 226,900 — — — — —
Foreign currency translation adjustments — — — (553) — (553)
Net loss = = = — (53,875) (53,875)
Balance at September 30, 2022 94,571,651 $ 263 $ 933,040 $ (1,695) $ (558,687) $ 372,921

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited interim consolidated financial statements.
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Centessa Pharmaceuticals plc
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity

(unaudited)

(amounts in thousands except share data)

Balance at January 1, 2023

Issuance of ordinary shares under ATM program, net of issuance
costs

Stock option exercises
Share-based compensation expense
Vesting of ordinary shares

Shares withheld to pay employee withholding tax on share-based
compensation

Foreign currency translation adjustments

Unrealized gain on available for sale securities, net of tax of $.3
million

Net loss

Balance at September 30, 2023

Balance at January 1, 2022

Issuance of ordinary shares to settle outstanding contingent value
rights, net of employee withholding taxes

Stock option exercises

Share-based compensation expense
Vesting of ordinary shares

Foreign currency translation adjustments

Net loss

Balance at September 30, 2022

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited interim consolidated financial statements.

Accumulated

Ordinary Shares Additional Other
paid-in Comprehensive Accumulated
Shares Amount capital Income (Loss) Deficit Total

94,843,391 265 $ 939,261 $ (1,497) $ (601,860) $ 336,169
2,040,816 5 14,559 — — 14,564
44,770 — 192 — — 192

— — 21,962 — — 21,962

908,463 1 (1) — — —
(269,957) (1,525) — (1,525)
— — — 1,241 — 1,241

— — — 1,035 — 1,035

— — — — (114,248) (114,248)
97,567,483 271 $ 974,448 $ 779 $ (716,108) $ 259,390
89,988,228 252 $ 876,267 $ 688 $ (385,653) $ 491,554
3,938,423 10 37,738 — — 37,748
150,588 — 688 — — 688

— — 18,348 — — 18,348

494,412 1 1) — — —

— — — (2,383) — (2,383)

— — — — (173,034) (173,034)
94,571,651 263 $ 933,040 $ (1,695) $ (558,687) $ 372,921
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Centessa Pharmaceuticals plc
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(unaudited)

(amounts in thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities:

Nine months ended
September 30, 2023

Nine months ended
September 30, 2022

Net loss $ (114,248) $ (173,034)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Share-based compensation expense 21,962 18,348
Depreciation and amortization 564 95
Change in fair value of financial instruments 4,200 (5,520)
Change in deferred taxes (26,380) (83)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Tax incentive receivable (4,157) (7,847)
Prepaid expenses and other assets (3,211) 4,209
Operating leases, net (1,968) —
Accounts payable (3,308) 3,755
Accrued expenses and other liabilities (2,841) 11,095
Other, net 95 —
Net cash used in operating activities (129,292) (148,982)
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of investments in marketable securities (194,836) —
Proceeds from redemption of investments in marketable securities 86,248 —
Purchases of property and equipment (141) (485)
Net cash used in investing activities (108,729) (485)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of shares under ATM program, net of issuance costs 14,564 —
Proceeds from option exercises 192 629
Other, net — (261)
Net cash provided by financing activities 14,756 368
Effect of exchange rate on cash and cash equivalents 1,119 (1,140)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (222,146) (150,239)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 393,644 595,082
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 171,498 $ 444,843
Supplemental disclosure:
Interest paid $ 7,336 $ 5,074
Income taxes paid $ 2,947 $ 862
Operating lease payments reducing operating lease liabilities $ 785 $ —
ROU assets obtained in exchange for operating lease liabilities $ 9,711 $ —
Non-cash investing and financing activities:
Issuance of ordinary shares to settle outstanding contingent value rights $ — 3 39,680

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited interim consolidated financial statements.
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Centessa Pharmaceuticals plc
Notes to the Unaudited Interim Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Organization and Description of Business

Centessa Pharmaceuticals plc (“Centessa” or “the Company”) is a clinical-stage pharmaceutical company that aims to discover, develop and
ultimately deliver medicines that are transformational for patients. Centessa was incorporated on October 26, 2020 as a limited liability company under
the laws of England and Wales. In connection with the IPO, the Company re-registered Centessa Pharmaceuticals Limited as an English public limited
company and renamed it as Centessa Pharmaceuticals plc.

Risks and Liquidity

The Company is subject to risks common to other life science companies in various stages of development including, but not limited to,
uncertainty of product development and commercialization, lack of marketing and sales history, development by its competitors of new technological
innovations, dependence on key personnel, market acceptance of products, product liability, protection of proprietary technology, ability to raise additional
financing and compliance with government regulations in the markets in which the Company is seeking approvals, including U.S. Food and Drug
Administration (“FDA”") regulations. If the Company does not successfully advance its programs, into and through human clinical trials and/or enter into
collaborations for its programs and commercialize any of its product candidates, it may be unable to produce product revenue or achieve profitability.

The Company has incurred losses and negative cash flows from operations since inception and the Company had an accumulated deficit of
$(716.1) million as of September 30, 2023. The Company anticipates incurring additional losses until such time, if ever, that it can generate significant
sales of the product candidates currently in development. Substantial additional capital will be needed by the Company to fund its operations and to
develop its product candidates.

The Company expects its existing cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments as of September 30, 2023 of $281.3 million will be
sufficient to fund its expected operating expenses and capital expenditure requirements for at least the next twelve months from the date of issuance of
these unaudited interim consolidated financial statements.

Shelf Registration Statement

On July 12, 2022, the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) declared effective the Company’s filed shelf registration statement on Form
S-3 (“Shelf”), which covers the offering, issuance and sale of an amount up to $350.0 million in the aggregate of the Company’s ordinary shares,
American Depository Shares representing ordinary shares, debt securities, warrants, and/or units or any combination thereof. The Company entered into
a Sales Agreement, dated January 27, 2023, by and between Centessa Pharmaceuticals plc and Leerink Partners LLC (formerly SVB Securities LLC).
As sales agent, Leerink Partners LLC will provide for the issuance and sale by the Company of up to $125.0 million of its ordinary shares represented by
American Depository Shares from time to time in “at-the-market” offerings under the Shelf (“ATM Program”). As of September 30, 2023, the Company
has sold 2,040,816 ordinary shares under the ATM Program, resulting in net proceeds to us of approximately $ 14.6 million.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The accompanying unaudited interim consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the annual audited consolidated and
combined financial statements of Centessa Pharmaceuticals plc (Successor) and the Centessa Predecessor Group (Predecessor) and related notes
which can be found in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022 (the “2022 Annual Report”). The Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies included in the Company’s annual financial statements have not materially changed, except as set forth below.

Basis of Presentation and Consolidation

The accompanying unaudited interim consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”). Any reference in these notes to applicable

10
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Centessa Pharmaceuticals plc
Notes to the Unaudited Interim Consolidated Financial Statements

guidance is meant to refer to GAAP as found in the Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC") and Accounting Standards Updates (“ASUs") promulgated
by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”).

In the opinion of management, the accompanying unaudited interim consolidated financial statements include all normal and recurring
adjustments (which consist primarily of accruals, estimates and assumptions that impact the financial statements) considered necessary to present fairly:

. the Company’s financial position as of September 30, 2023 and as of December 31, 2022;
. the Company’s results of operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023 and September 30, 2022; and

. the Company’s cash flows for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 and September 30, 2022.

Operating results for the Company for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023 are not necessarily indicative of the results that
may be expected for the full year. The unaudited interim consolidated financial statements presented herein do not contain all of the required disclosures
under U.S. GAAP for annual financial statements. Notes to the financial statements which would substantially duplicate the disclosure contained in the
audited financial statements for fiscal 2022 as reported in the 2022 Annual Report have been omitted. Therefore, these unaudited interim consolidated
financial statements should be read in conjunction with the annual audited consolidated and combined financial statements and related notes for
Centessa Pharmaceuticals plc found in the Form 10-K filed with the SEC.

The Company’s unaudited interim consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Centessa Pharmaceuticals plc, and its wholly owned
subsidiaries. All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Emerging Growth Company and Smaller Reporting Company

We are an “emerging growth company,” as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act (“*JOBS Act") enacted in April 2012. For so long
as we remain an emerging growth company, we are permitted and intend to rely on certain exemptions from various public company reporting
requirements, including not being required to have our internal control over financial reporting audited by our independent registered public accounting
firm pursuant to Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in our periodic
reports and proxy statements, exemptions from the requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory vote on executive compensation and any golden
parachute payments not previously approved.

We will remain an emerging growth company until the earlier to occur of (1) the last day of the fiscal year that is five years following the closing of
our initial public offering, (2) the last day of the fiscal year in which we have total annual gross revenues of at least $1.235 billion, (3) the last day of the
fiscal year in which we are deemed to be a “large accelerated filer,” under the rules of the SEC, which means the market value of our equity securities
that is held by non-affiliates exceeds $700 million as of the prior June 30th after we have been subject to the SEC’s periodic reporting requirements for at
least twelve calendar months and have filed at least one annual report, and (4) the date on which we have issued more than $1.0 billion in non-
convertible debt during the prior three-year period.

In addition, the JOBS Act provides that an emerging growth company can take advantage of an extended transition period for complying with
new or revised accounting standards. This provision allows an emerging growth company to delay the adoption of some accounting standards until those
standards would otherwise apply to private companies. We are electing to utilize the extended transition period and, as a result, will comply with new or
revised accounting standards on the relevant dates on which adoption of such standards is required for emerging growth companies.

We are also a “smaller reporting company” as defined in the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act”). Even after we no longer qualify
as an emerging growth company, we may still qualify as a “smaller reporting company” if the market value of our ordinary shares held by non-affiliates is
below $250 million (or $560 million if our annual revenue is less than $100 million) as of June 30 in any given year. As a smaller reporting company, we
are eligible for scaled disclosure relief from certain Regulation S-X and Regulation S-K requirements.

11
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Centessa Pharmaceuticals plc
Notes to the Unaudited Interim Consolidated Financial Statements

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less when purchased to be cash equivalents.
Cash and cash equivalents include cash in readily available checking accounts, certificate of deposits, money market funds and U.S. Treasury securities.

Short Term Investments

The Company invests its excess cash in cash deposits, U.S. Treasury securities and SEC-registered money market funds. Securities with
original maturities of three months or less when purchased are included in Cash and cash equivalents. The Company considers investments with original
maturities greater than three months and remaining maturities less than one year to be short-term investments.

As of September 30, 2023, all investments in U.S. Treasury securities were classified as available-for-sale securities, which are recorded at fair
value. Unrealized holding gains and losses on available-for-sale securities are reported net of related income taxes in accumulated other comprehensive
income until realized. Purchase premiums and discounts are amortized to interest income over the terms of the related securities.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to a concentration of credit risk consist of cash, cash equivalents and short-term
investments. The Company'’s cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments are held by financial institutions primarily in the United States and the
United Kingdom. Amounts on deposit may at times exceed federally insured limits. Management believes that the financial institutions are financially
sound, and accordingly, the Company does not believe that it is subject to unusual credit risk beyond the normal credit risk associated with commercial
banking relationships.

Reclassifications

Certain amounts in the prior period financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the presentation of the current period financial
statements. These reclassifications had no effect on previously reported net loss or comprehensive loss.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of unaudited interim consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as of the date of the
unaudited interim consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from
those estimates.

Estimates and assumptions are periodically reviewed and the effects of revisions are reflected in the unaudited interim consolidated financial
statements in the period they are determined to be necessary. On an ongoing basis, an evaluation of estimates and judgments are required, including
those related to accrued research and development expenses, the Note Purchase Agreement, share-based compensation and tax related matters.
Estimates are based on historical experience, known trends and events, and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

Property and Equipment, net and Capitalized Software under Cloud Computing Arrangements

Property and equipment are recorded at cost and are depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the respective
assets. Property and equipment includes computer equipment, furniture and office equipment. The costs of maintenance and repairs are expensed as
incurred. Improvements and betterment that add new functionality or extend the useful life of the asset are capitalized. Depreciation expense for the nine-
month periods ended September 30, 2023 and September 30, 2022 were $208 thousand and $95 thousand, respectively.

Costs related to the implementation of cloud computing arrangements that are service contracts incurred during the application development
stage are capitalized and included in the same line item as a prepayment for corresponding hosting service fees. Capitalized costs are amortized over
the shorter of its estimated useful life and the term of the hosting
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arrangement, including anticipated extensions. Costs incurred during the preliminary project stage and the post-implementation-operation stage are
expensed as incurred. Hosting fees associated with hosting as a service arrangement are expensed on a straight-line basis over the term of the hosting
arrangement. Amortization expense for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 was $ 356 thousand.

Leases

In accordance with ASU No. 2016-02, Leases (“ASC 842"), the Company assesses whether an arrangement is a lease, or contains a lease at
the inception of the arrangement. When an arrangement contains a lease, the Company categorizes leases with contractual terms longer than twelve
months as either operating or finance. Finance leases are generally those leases that allow us to substantially utilize or pay for the entire asset over its
estimated life. Assets acquired under finance leases are recorded in “Property and equipment, net.” All other leases are categorized as operating leases.

The Company records right-of use ("ROU") assets and lease obligations for its finance and operating leases, which are initially recognized based
on the discounted future lease payments over the term of the lease. As the rate implicit in the Company's leases may not be easily determinable, the
Company uses its incremental borrowing rate to calculate the present value of the sum of the lease payments. Lease terms may include options to
extend or terminate the lease. The Company will include such options in determining the lease term when it is reasonably certain that the Company will
exercise such options. Operating and finance lease ROU assets are recognized net of any lease prepayments and incentives. The Company elected the
practical expedient to not separate lease and non-lease components and, accordingly, accounts for them as a single lease component. Operating lease
expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Finance lease expense is recognized based on the effective-interest method over the
lease term. The Company elected not to recognize ROU assets and lease obligations for any short-term leases, which are defined as leases with an
initial term of 12 months or less.

Long-Lived Assets

Long-lived assets, comprised of property and equipment and operating lease right-of-use assets, are reviewed for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is
measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If the
carrying amount of an asset exceeds its estimated undiscounted future cash flows, then an impairment charge is recognized for the amount by which the
carrying value of the asset exceeds the estimated fair value of the asset. No impairments of long-lived assets for the nine-month periods ended
September 30, 2023 and 2022 were recognized by the Company.

Note Purchase Agreement

In October 2021, the Company entered into a Note Purchase Agreement (the “Note Purchase Agreement”) with Oberland Capital. Under the
terms of the Note Purchase Agreement, Oberland Capital will purchase up to $300 million of 6.0 years, interest-only, senior secured notes (the “Notes”)
from the Company including $75 million funded on October 4, 2021, $50 million available through December 2023 at the Company’s option, $ 75 million
available through September 2024 at the Company’s option and $100 million available to fund Mergers and Acquisitions (“M&A”), in-licensing, or other
strategic transactions, at the option of the Company and Oberland Capital. In addition to interest payments on the principal, the Company is obligated to
pay a milestone payment upon the Company’s first product to obtain regulatory approval.

The Company evaluated the Notes and determined that the Notes include embedded derivatives that would otherwise require bifurcation as
derivative liabilities. Neither the debt instrument nor any embedded features are required to be classified as equity. Therefore, the hybrid financial
instrument comprised of the debt host and the embedded derivative liability may be accounted for under the fair value option. The Company elected to
carry the Notes at fair value, and the debt instrument is outside the scope of ASC 480, Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity, and thus will be classified as
a liability under ASC 470, Debt, in the Company’s financial statements. As the Company has elected to account for the Notes under the fair value option,
debt issuance costs were immediately expensed.

The fair value of the Note Purchase Agreement represents the present value of estimated future payments, including interest, principal as well as
estimated payments that are contingent upon the achievement of specified milestones. The fair value of the Notes is based on the cumulative probability
of the various estimated payments. The fair value measurement is based on significant Level 3 unobservable inputs such as the probability of achieving
the milestones, anticipated timelines,
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probability and timing of an early redemption of all obligations under the Note Purchase Agreement and the discount rate. Any changes in the fair value
of the liability in each reporting period are recognized in the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive loss until it is settled.

Net Loss Per Ordinary Share

Basic loss per ordinary share is computed by dividing net loss by the aggregate weighted-average number of ordinary shares outstanding.
Diluted loss per ordinary share includes the effect, if any, from the potential exercise or conversion of securities, such as convertible preferred shares,
stock options, unvested restricted ordinary shares and convertible debt which would result in the issuance of incremental ordinary shares. For diluted net
loss per ordinary share, the weighted-average number of ordinary shares is the same for basic net loss per ordinary share due to the fact that when a net
loss exists, dilutive securities are not included in the calculation as the impact is anti-dilutive.

The following potentially dilutive securities have been excluded from the computation of diluted weighted-average ordinary shares outstanding for
the nine months ended September 30, 2023 and September 30, 2022, as they would be anti-dilutive:

Nine Months Ended Nine Months Ended

September 30, 2023 September 30, 2022
Unvested ordinary shares 366,588 657,427
Restricted stock units 2,189,854 2,270,055
Stock options 16,039,219 14,945,667
18,595,661 17,873,149

3. Fair Value Measurement

Fair value is the price that could be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants.
Fair value determination in accordance with applicable accounting guidance requires that a number of significant judgments be made. Additionally, fair
value is used on a nonrecurring basis to evaluate assets for impairment or as required for disclosure purposes by applicable accounting guidance on
disclosures about fair value of financial instruments. Depending on the nature of the assets and liabilities, various valuation techniques and assumptions
are used when estimating fair value. The carrying amounts of certain of the Company’s financial instruments, including cash, prepaid expense and
accounts payable, are shown at cost, which approximates fair value due to the short-term nature of these instruments.

The Company follows the provisions of FASB ASC Topic 820, Fair Value Measurement, for financial assets and liabilities measured on a
recurring basis. The guidance requires fair value measurements be classified and disclosed in one of the following three categories:
Level 1: Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that are accessible at the measurement date for identical, unrestricted assets or liabilities.

Level 2: Quoted prices in markets that are not active, or inputs which are observable, either directly or indirectly, for substantially the full term of
the asset or liabilities.

Level 3: Prices or valuation techniques that require inputs that are both significant to the fair value measurement and unobservable (i.e.,
supported by little or no market activity).
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The following fair value hierarchy table presents information about the Company’s financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a

recurring basis (amounts in thousands):

September 30, 2023
Assets
Money Market fund

U.S. Treasury securities

Liabilities

Note Purchase Agreement

December 31, 2022
Liabilities

Note Purchase Agreement

Fair value measurement at reporting date using

Quoted prices
in active markets for

identical assets

Significant
other Significant

observable inputs (Level unobservable inputs

(Level 1) 2) (Level 3)
40,278 $ —  $ —
149,332 $ — 3 —
— 3 — 3 74,000
$ — $ — 3 69,800

We classify our investments in available-for-sale U.S. Treasury securities and the money market fund into Level 1 of the ASC Topic 820
hierarchy because fair values represent quoted market prices for identical or comparable instruments.

The following represents the amortized cost bases and fair values of the Company’s U.S. Treasury securities and its money market fund as of

September 30, 2023 (amounts in thousands):

Amortized Cost Gross Unrealized Gains  Gross Unrealized Losses Fair Value
Money Market fund, included in Cash and cash
equivalents $ 40,278 $ — $ — % 40,278
U.S. Treasury securities, included in:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 39,395 $ 9 $ — % 39,489
Short-term investments 108,587 1,256 — 109,843
Total U.S. Treasury securities $ 147,982 $ 1350 $ — $ 149,332

For the Company's financial instruments measured at fair value on a recurring basis using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3), the following
table provides a reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances for each category therein (amounts in thousands):

Balance at January 1, 2022
Change in fair value
Settlement

Balance at December 31, 2022

Change in fair value

Balance at September 30, 2023
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The fair value of the Note Purchase Agreement represents the present value of estimated future payments, including interest, principal as well as
estimated payments that are contingent upon the achievement of specified milestones. The fair value of the notes is based on the cumulative probability
of the various estimated payments. The fair value measurement is based on significant Level 3 unobservable inputs such as the probability of achieving
the milestones, anticipated timelines, probability and timing of an early redemption of all obligations under the agreement and discount rate. Any changes
in the fair value of the liability are recognized in the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive loss until it is settled. For the nine months
ended September 30, 2023, the Company recorded an unrealized loss of $4.2 million for the estimated change in fair value of the Note Purchase
Agreement, which was recorded in Other (Expense) Income, net in the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive loss. The unrealized
loss was primarily the result of the accretion of discount as well as a decrease in the discount rate primarily due to a decrease in credit spreads.

4. Balance Sheet Components

Prepaid expenses and other current assets consist of the following (amounts in thousands):

September 30, December 31,
2023 2022
Research and development expenses $ 15,057 $ 11,321
Insurance related expenses 2,805 2,788
Value added tax receivable 1,932 2,557
Other 2,859 3,271
$ 22653 $ 19,937
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities consist of the following (amounts in thousands):
September 30, December 31,
2023 2022
Research and development expenses $ 16,509 $ 10,795
Personnel related expenses 5,237 7,264
Professional fees 1,719 4,171
Income tax liability — 1,582
Operating lease liabilities 482 —
Other 159 690
$ 24,106 $ 24,502
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Property and equipment, net consisted of the following (amounts in thousands):

September 30, December 31,
2023 2022
Computer equipment $ 706 $ 442
Office furniture 724 —
Other 44 890
Property and equipment, at cost 1,474 1,332
Less: Accumulated depreciation (372) (164)
Property and equipment, net $ 1,102 $ 1,168

The following table provides a reconciliation of current period changes, net of applicable income taxes, for unrealized gains on available for sale securities
presented in accumulated other comprehensive income (amounts in thousands):

Three Months Ended
September 30, 2023

Beginning balance $ 783
Current period increase in fair value, net of tax of $ 0.3 million 999
Reclassifications to net loss, net of tax of $ 0.2 million (746)
Ending balance $ 1,036
5. Debt

Debt as of September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022 (in thousands):

September 30, December 31,
2023 2022

Note Purchase Agreement $ 74,000 $ 69,800

On October 1, 2021 (the “Signing Date”), the Company, as issuer, and certain of the Company’s wholly owned subsidiaries, as guarantors (the
“Guarantors”), entered into a Note Purchase Agreement (the “Note Purchase Agreement”) with Oberland Capital Management LLC (the “Purchasers”)
and Cocoon SA LLC (the “Agent”), an affiliate of Oberland Capital Management LLC, as agent for the Purchasers. On February 11, 2022, on November
7, 2022 and on June 23, 2023, the Company, the Guarantors, the Purchasers and the Agent agreed to certain amendments to the Note Purchase
Agreement, memorialized in the “Amendment”, the “Second Amendment”, and the “Third Amendment” respectively. The Note Purchase Agreement,
collectively with the amendments, is hereinafter referred to as the NPA.

Under the NPA, the Purchasers agreed to purchase, and the Company agreed to sell, tranches of secured notes in the aggregate principal
amount of up to $300 million as follows: (a) a secured note in the aggregate principal amount of $75 million, (the “First Purchase Note”), which was
funded on October 4, 2021, (b) on and after the Signing Date until September 30, 2024, at the Company’s option, a secured note in the aggregate
principal amount of $75 million (the “Second Purchase Note”), (c) on and after the Signing Date until December 31, 2023, at the Company’s option, a
secured note in the aggregate principal amount of $50 million (the “Third Purchase Note”), and (d) one or more secured notes in the aggregate principal
amount of up to $100 million at any time at the Company’s and Purchasers’ option, to be used to finance certain permitted acquisitions as described in
the NPA (the “Fourth Purchase Notes” and collectively with the First Purchase Note, the Second Purchase Note and the Third Purchase Note, the
“Notes”). The obligations of the Purchasers to purchase the Notes are subject to certain conditions precedent.

The Notes will mature on the six-year anniversary of the First Purchase Date, unless earlier accelerated under the terms of the NPA. At maturity,
the Company must repay the outstanding principal amount of the Notes, together with any accrued and unpaid interest thereon and other outstanding
obligations thereunder. Interest is payable quarterly during the term of the Notes at a rate per annum equal to the sum of (a) the greater of (i) the Secured
Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”) (which may be subject to replacement as contemplated by the NPA) and (ii) 0.25%; plus (b) 7.75% (which
percentage is subject to
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adjustment as described in the NPA); provided that the interest rate shall never be less than 8.00%. The average interest rate over the nine months
ended September 30, 2023 was 12.9% per annum compared with an average interest rate of 8.9% per annum over the nine months ended
September 30, 2022.

The Company’s obligations under the facility are secured by a first priority security interest in all assets of the Company and Guarantors, subject
to variation in accordance with local law with respect to assets held by the Company and the Guarantors outside of the United States.

Upon the first regulatory approval of any of the Company’s product candidates by either the FDA or the European Medicines Agency (“EMA"),
the Company is obligated to pay the Purchasers an amount equal to 30% of the aggregate principal amount issued under the Notes by the Company (the
“Milestone Payment”). The Milestone Payment shall be paid in quarterly installments over five years beginning on the earlier of (i) the date of the first
commercial sale following such regulatory approval; and (ii) the six month anniversary of such regulatory approval. The Milestone Payment is triggered
one time only, and applies only to the Company’s first product to obtain regulatory approval.

The Company may redeem all, but not less than all, of the outstanding Notes (if any) and pay all other outstanding obligations under the NPA.
On the applicable date, the Company shall repurchase the Notes by paying an amount of up to (i) 175% of the principal amount issued under the Notes if
such repurchase occurs on or prior to the third anniversary of the First Purchase Date, (ii) 185% of the principal amount issued under the Notes if such
repurchase occurs between the third and sixth anniversaries of the First Purchase Date, and (iii) 205% of the principal amount issued under the Notes if
such repurchase occurs thereafter, in each case less specified deductions and exclusions described in the NPA, including amounts paid by the Company
to the Purchasers in respect of certain asset sale or strategic transactions, the interest payments and the Milestone Payments (the “Final Payment
Amount”). As of September 30, 2023, the cumulative payments under the NPA, including interest payments, totaled $ 16.1 million.

Conversely, the Purchasers may require the Company to redeem any outstanding Notes by payment of the Final Payment Amount upon a sale,
divestment or transfer of all or substantially all assets of the Company in a transaction or series of transactions or a change of control of the Company, a
material breach of the NPA and related transaction documents, an event of default under the NPA or the tenth anniversary of the First Purchase Date (or
such earlier date as described in the NPA). In addition, upon certain asset sales and similar strategic transactions by the Company with respect to its own
or its subsidiaries’ assets or businesses as described in the NPA (other than a change of control described above), the Purchasers may require the
Company to pay an amount in cash equal to up to 75% of the Net Proceeds (as defined in the NPA) received from such asset sales, subject to a $ 100
million deductible such that the Purchaser Agent will not collect any repurchase amounts until $100 million has been received by the Company from such
sale event (the “Deductible”).

The NPA contains customary affirmative and negative covenants, including with respect to notice obligations, limitations on new indebtedness,
liens, investments and transactions with affiliates of the Company, restrictions on the payment of dividends, maintenance of collateral accounts in the
amount of 90% of the aggregate outstanding principal amount of all issued Notes, maintenance of insurance and addition of new subsidiaries as obligors.
It also contains customary representations and warranties in favor of the Purchasers and the Agent and customary events of default, which may cause
the obligations of the Company to be accelerated. Such events include among others, failure to make payments when due, breach of covenants,
insolvency, a cross-default to other indebtedness, a judgment event of default, and delisting of the Company’s securities from the Nasdaq Global Select
Market.

6. Commitments and Contingencies
Commitments

As of September 30, 2023, the Company had non-cancellable commitments for purchase of clinical materials, contract manufacturing,
maintenance, and committed funding of up to $86.6 million, of which the Company expects to pay $ 44.8 million within one year and $41.8 million over one
to three years. The amount and timing of these payments vary depending on the rate of progress of development. Future clinical trial expenses have not
been included within the purchase commitments because they are contingent on enroliment in clinical trials and the activities required to be performed by
the clinical sites.
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Leases

On February 7, 2022, the Company entered into an operating lease for its new corporate headquarters in Boston, Massachusetts (the “Boston
Lease”). After a build out of the space, the Boston Lease commenced on March 31, 2023. The 10-year Boston Lease is for 18,922 square feet with a
fixed annual rent of approximately $1.6 million commencing in 2023 and escalating to approximately $ 1.9 million by year 10. The Boston Lease required
the Company to issue a letter of credit in the amount of $0.7 million in favor of the landlord. The Company may, at its discretion, extend the Boston Lease
for one extension term of five years. As of September 30, 2023, the Company has recognized an operating lease right-of-use asset, net of $ 12.1 million,
including capitalized leasehold improvements that will be owned by the landlord, prepayments of rent, and a corresponding lease liability of $9.5 million.
On October 11, 2023, the Company entered into a five-year agreement to sublet 4,242 square feet of the Boston Lease, which may be extended at
subtenant’s option.

The following table provides balance sheet information related to leases as of September 30, 2023 (amounts in thousands):

September 30, 2023

Assets:

Operating lease, right-of-use asset $ 12,130
Liabilities:

Current portion of operating lease liabilities $ 482

Operating lease liabilities, net of current portion 9,020
Total operating lease liabilities $ 9,502

In calculating the present value of the lease payments, the Company elected to utilize its incremental borrowing rate based on the original term
of the lease. The following table summarizes supplemental information related to leases as of September 30, 2023 (amount in thousands):

September 30, 2023

Weighted-average remaining lease term 9.3 years

Weighted-average discount rate 11.97 %
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The components of the Company’s lease costs are classified on its consolidated statements of operations as follows (amounts in thousands):

Nine Months Ended Nine Months Ended

September 30, 2023 September 30, 2022
Operating lease cost $ 999 $ —
Variable lease cost 43 60
Short term lease cost 20 116
Total operating lease cost $ 1,062 $ 176

Future lease payments under non-cancelable operating leases as of September 30, 2023 were as follows (amounts in thousands):

Operating Leases

Year ending:
2023 $ 393
2024 1,602
2025 1,634
2026 1,667
2027 1,700
Thereafter 9,023
Total $ 16,019
Less: Imputed interest (6,517)
Present value of lease liabilities $ 9,502
Less: current portion (482)
Lease liabilities, net of current portion $ 9,020

Licensing and Collaborative Arrangements

The Company is party to licensing and collaboration arrangements to develop and commercialize intellectual property. In aggregate, the
Company may be obligated to make up to $43.2 million and $42.0 million in related development and commercial milestone payments, respectively,
predominately related to agreements between Orexia Therapeutics Limited and collaboration partners. As of September 30, 2023, the Company had no
significant milestone obligations recorded on its balance sheet under its license and collaborative arrangements. The Company expects that payments
related to its licensing and collaboration arrangements in the next twelve months would not be material to the Company’s consolidated financial
statements.

Contingencies

From time to time, the Company may have certain contingent liabilities that arise in the ordinary course of its business activities. The Company
accrues a liability for such matters when it is probable that future expenditures will be made, and such expenditures can be reasonably estimated.
Litigation

On September 28, 2022 (“Original Complaint”), the Company and certain of its current and former officers were named as defendants in a
proposed class-action lawsuit filed in the United States District Court for the Central District of California. The complaint generally alleges that the

Company violated Sections 10(b) and 20(a) and Sections 11 and 15 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”) by allegedly making
materially false and/or misleading statements, as
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well as allegedly failing to disclose material adverse facts relating to the safety profile and future clinical and commercial prospects of each of its
lixivaptan and ZF874 programs, which caused the Company’s securities to trade at artificially inflated prices. On October 12, 2022, by order, the lawsuit
was transferred to the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York. On February 10, 2023, an amended complaint was filed
(“Amended Complaint”) in which our IPO underwriters were added as co-defendants. A number of the complaints set forth in the Original Complaint have
been abandoned including with respect to intentional fraud theory and claims pursuant to Sections 10(b) or 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
The only claims alleged in the Amended Complaint are violations of Sections 11 and 15 of the Securities Act based on alleged misstatements in the S-1
filed by the Company in connection with its Initial Public Offering. The Amended Complaint also abandoned any claims concerning ZF874 and focuses
entirely on lixivaptan. The Amended Complaint seeks damages and attorneys’ fees, among other things. The Company believes this lawsuit is without
merit and intends to defend the case vigorously. Litigation is subject to inherent uncertainty and a court could ultimately rule against the Company. In
addition, the defense of litigation and related matters are costly and may divert the attention of the Company’s management and other resources that
would otherwise be engaged in other activities. The Company has not recorded an estimate of the possible loss associated with this legal proceeding
due to the uncertainties related to both the likelihood and the amount of any possible loss or range of loss.

7. Share-based Compensation
Centessa Pharmaceuticals plc Stock Option and Incentive Plan

In January 2021, the Company’s board of directors approved the 2021 Stock Option and Incentive Plan (the “2021 Plan”). The 2021 Plan
provides for the granting of ordinary shares, incentive stock options, non-qualified stock options, restricted share awards, restricted stock units and/or
share appreciation rights to employees, directors, and other persons, as determined by the Company’s board of directors. The number of shares
authorized under the 2021 Plan was increased in May 2021 at the time of the IPO, whereby the total number of shares authorized under the 2021 Plan
was 20,026,816. Beginning on January 1, 2022 and each January 1 thereafter, the number of shares reserved and available for issuance under the 2021
Plan shall be cumulatively increased by 5% of the number of shares issued and outstanding on the immediately preceding December 31, or such lesser
number as the board of directors may determine. Remaining shares available for future grants as of September 30, 2023 were 8,297,134.

Share-based Compensation Expense

The Company recorded share-based compensation expense in the following expense categories in the unaudited interim consolidated
statements of operations and comprehensive loss (amounts in thousands):

Three Months Ended Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended Nine Months Ended

September 30, 2023 September 30, 2022 September 30, 2023 September 30, 2022
Research and development $ 3326 $ 3213 $ 9,865 $ 8,700
General and administrative 4,233 3,814 12,097 9,648
$ 7,559 $ 7,027 $ 21,962 $ 18,348
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Stock Options

The following table summarizes stock option activity for the nine months ended September 30, 2023:

Weighted-Average Weighted-Average
Exercise Price Per Remaining Contractual
Number of Shares Share Term
Balance at January 1, 2023 14,688,996 $ 7.88 8.5 years
Granted 2,973,300 $ 4.18
Exercised (44,770) $ 4.28
Forfeited (1,578,307) $ 8.33
Balance at September 30, 2023 16,039,219 $ 7.16 7.9 years
Exercisable at September 30, 2023 7,764,651 $ 7.57 7.3 years
Vested and expected to vest at September 30, 2023 16,039,219 ¢ 7.16 7.9 years

The weighted-average grant date fair value of options granted was $ 3.00 per share for the nine months ended September 30, 2023. As of
September 30, 2023, the total unrecognized compensation expense related to unvested stock option awards was $33.9 million, which the Company
expects to recognize over a weighted-average period of 2.1 years.

Based on the trading price of $6.47 per ADS, which is the closing price as of September 30, 2023, the aggregate intrinsic value of options as of
September 30, 2023 was $12.9 million.

During the nine months ended September 30, 2023, the fair value of each option was estimated on the date of grant using the weighted average
assumptions in the table below:

Expected term 6.0 years
Expected stock price volatility 78.0 %
Risk-free interest rate 3.6 %
Expected dividend yield 0%

The Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model to value its stock option awards. The expected life of the stock options is estimated
using the “simplified method,” as the Company has limited historical information from which to develop reasonable expectations about future exercise
patterns and post-vesting employment termination behavior for its stock option grants. The simplified method is the midpoint between the vesting period
and the contractual term of the option. For share price volatility, the Company uses comparable public companies as a basis for its expected volatility to
calculate the fair value of option grants. The risk-free rate is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve commensurate with the expected life of the option.
Forfeitures of stock options are recognized in the period the forfeiture occurs.

Restricted Share Awards and Units

In connection with the acquisition of the Centessa subsidiaries in January 2021, the Company issued 379,905 ordinary shares subject to future
vesting under its Restricted Stock Awards program. For the period subsequent to the acquisition, the Company issued an additional 833,897 ordinary
shares subject to future vesting to an employee. The fair value of the awards were based upon the estimated fair value of the Company’s ordinary shares
at the time of grant.

The Board, following the recommendations of the Company’s Compensation Committee, grants service-based restricted stock unit awards under
the Company’s Stock Incentive Plan to certain executive officers and employees of the Company to encourage employee retention. Periodic grants are
made at fair market value, representing the NASDAQ market close quoted price on the day of the grant.
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The following table summarizes ordinary share activity related to the restricted stock programs for the nine months ended September 30, 2023:

Restricted Stock Awards Restricted Stock Units
Weighted-Average Weighted-Average
Grant Date Fair Value Grant Date Fair
Number of Shares Per Share Number of Shares Value Per Share
Unvested at January 1, 2023 599,421 1,804,760
Granted — n/a 1,443,381 $ 3.87
Vested (232,833) (675,631)
Forfeited — (382,656)
Unvested at September 30, 2023 366,588 2,189,854
Unrecognized compensation expense
at September 30, 2023 (in thousands) $ 6,823 $ 9,156
Expected weighted average recognition period 1.6 years 2.2 years

Employee Share Purchase Plan

In January 2021, the Company’s board of directors approved the 2021 Employee Share Purchase Plan (the “ESPP”). The initial number of
shares reserved for issuance under the 2021 ESPP was 860,000. On January 1, 2022 and each January 1 thereafter, the number of shares reserved
and available for issuance under the ESPP shall be cumulatively increased by a number of shares equal to the lesser of: (i) 1% of the number of Shares
issued and outstanding on the immediately preceding December 31; (ii) two times the initial number of shares reserved or (jii) such number of shares as
determined by the board of directors. As of September 30, 2023, no shares have been purchased or issued under the ESPP and remaining shares
reserved for the ESPP were 2,708,315.

8. Related Party Transactions
Master Services agreements with drug discovery companies affiliated with David Grainger

Certain Centessa subsidiaries entered into Master Services agreements with certain drug discovery companies affiliated with David Grainger,
who was appointed as the Company’s Chief Innovation Officer in October 2021. These companies include RxCelerate Limited, RxBiologics Limited and
The Foundry (Cambridge) Limited, of which David Grainger is a director and shareholder. The Company incurred research and development costs
associated with these contracts as follows in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss (amounts in thousands):

Three Months Ended Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, 2023 September 30, 2022 September 30, 2023 September 30, 2022
Research and development $ 404 $ 2,744 $ 5018 $ 5,863

9. Income Taxes

To determine its income tax expense or benefit for interim periods, consistent with accounting standards, the Company applies an estimated
annual effective income tax rate to year-to-date results, plus any applicable discrete items, which are recorded in the period in which they occur. Discrete
items can include, among others, such events as changes in estimates due to the finalization of tax returns, tax audit settlements, expiration of statutes of
limitations, and an increase or decrease in valuation allowances on deferred tax assets.

The Company recorded an income tax benefit of $2.8 million for the three months ended September 30, 2023 compared with an income tax

benefit of $0.1 million for the three months ended September 30, 2022. The higher income tax benefit during the three months ended September 30,
2023 reflected a change in estimate related to the finalization of a tax
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return filing. The Company recorded an income tax benefit of $ 26.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 compared with an income tax
benefit of $83 thousand for the nine months ended September 30, 2022. The higher income tax benefit in 2023 was primarily the result of the release of a
valuation allowance as a result of an internal reorganization of its subsidiaries that occurred in the second quarter of 2023 as well as a change in estimate
in the third quarter of 2023 related to the finalization of a tax return filing.

The Company regularly assesses its ability to realize its deferred tax assets. Assessing the realization of deferred tax assets requires significant
judgment. In determining whether its deferred tax assets are more likely than not realizable, the Company evaluated all available positive and negative
evidence, and weighed the evidence based on its objectivity. After consideration of the evidence, the Company believes it would more likely than not be
able to utilize existing loss carryforwards and research and development tax credits to offset future income in the United States. The operating entity in
the United States has a history of cumulative net profits as it carries out services for other entities in the group.

24



Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the unaudited interim consolidated financial statements and related notes
thereto, included elsewhere herein and the audited consolidated and combined financial statements and notes thereto for the year ended December 31,
2022 and the related Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation, all of which are contained in our Annual
Report on Form 10-K (the “2022 Annual Report”) filed with the SEC. In addition to historical financial information, some of the information contained in the
following discussion and analysis contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and
Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. All statements other than statements of historical facts, including statements regarding
our future results of operations and financial position, business strategy, current and prospective products, product approvals, research and development
costs, current and prospective collaborations, timing and likelihood of success, plans and objectives of management for future operations and future
results of current and anticipated products, are forward-looking statements. These statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties,
assumptions and other important factors that may cause our actual results, performance or achievements to be materially different from any future
results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements.

Overview and Format of Presentation

Centessa Pharmaceuticals plc is a clinical-stage pharmaceutical company with a mission to discover, develop and ultimately deliver medicines
that are transformational for patients.

Our pipeline programs span early-stage to late-stage development and cover a range of high-value indications, including hemophilia, solid
tumors, narcolepsy and other sleep-wake disorders. Subject to regulatory approval, we believe that multiple programs within our pipeline have the
potential to change the current treatment paradigm, establish new standards of care for patients, and compete in multi-billion dollar markets.

SerpinPC in Hemophilia

Our most advanced product candidate is SerpinPC, a subcutaneously administered novel inhibitor of activated protein C (“APC”") being
developed as a potential treatment for hemophilia. SerpinPC has a novel mechanism of action (“MoA”) designed to prevent and reduce bleeds. To date,
clinical data from our ongoing Phase 2a studies in hemophilia A (“HA”) and hemophilia B (“HB") subjects has shown SerpinPC to have a favorable safety
and tolerability profile, as well as evidence of sustained efficacy in patients with hemophilia, as measured by a reduction in the all-bleeds annualized
bleed rates (“ABRs”"). Based on these data, we believe SerpinPC has the potential to be a first-in-class subcutaneously administered therapy with a
differentiated safety profile for individuals with hemophilia, subject to regulatory review and approval. In December 2023, we plan to share new data from
an additional 52-weeks of continuous treatment from the third year (Part 5) of the ongoing open-label extension (OLE) of AP-0101, a Phase 2a study of
SerpinPC for the treatment of hemophilia, during a poster session at the 65th American Society of Hematology (ASH) Annual Meeting.

In September 2022, we received a “Study May Proceed Letter” from the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) for the Phase 2b clinical
studies under our IND application. In December 2022, we initiated our registrational program for SerpinPC in HB, which includes a set of global studies
with multiple components. PRESent-5, which began enroliment in December 2022, is an observational feeder study to collect prospective observational
data for minimum defined periods before switching to dosing subjects in the Phase 2b interventional studies which include PRESent-2 and PRESent-3.
We dosed the first subject in the registrational PRESent-2 study of moderately severe to severe HB without inhibitors, and severe HA with or without
inhibitors in July 2023, and dosed the first subject in the registrational PRESent-3 study of HB with inhibitors in October 2023. In parallel, we continue to
work with the FDA and a number of global regulators on our product process development and qualification activities. This streamlined, integrated
development program is designed to support marketing approval in adults and adolescents with HB, with or without inhibitors, as the initial indication. The
FDA granted SerpinPC Orphan Drug Designation in September 2022, and Fast Track designation in May 2023, both for the treatment of HB. Additional
information on the trials can be accessed at www.clinicaltrials.gov (NCT05605678, NCT05789524, NCT05789537).

While the initial focus of our ongoing clinical development program is HB, with and without inhibitors, we believe SerpinPC has the potential to
treat all types of hemophilia regardless of severity or inhibitor status and it may also prevent bleeding associated with other bleeding disorders. We
continue to assess registrational plans for HA. We own worldwide rights to SerpinPC.
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LB101, our First LockBody Product Candidate, in Solid Tumors

Leveraging our proprietary LockBody® technology, we are pioneering a novel approach that is designed to selectively drive potent effector
function activity, such as CD47 or CD3, into the tumor micro environment (“TME”) while avoiding systemic toxicity. We have conducted in vivo preclinical
studies of our LockBody technology with CD47 and CD3 for the treatment of solid tumors. LB101, a conditionally tetravalent PD-L1xCDA47 bi-specific
monoclonal antibody, is our first LockBody product candidate. Following clearance of our IND application from the FDA in January 2023, we initiated a
Phase 1/2a first-in-human (“FIH"), open-label, multicenter, dose escalation study with expansion cohorts to evaluate the safety, tolerability, and
preliminary activity of LB101 in subjects with advanced solid tumors. This study consists of 2 parts: FIH dose escalation and dose optimization (Part 1a
and Part 1b, respectively) and dose expansion (Part 2). Part 1 will evaluate LB101 monotherapy in subjects with selected, advanced solid tumors and
determine the recommended dose(s) for expansion for Part 2. The design of Part 2 depends on the results of Part 1 and will further evaluate the safety,
efficacy, tolerability, pharmacokinetics, and immune response of LB101. This study is also expected to provide insights into the performance of our
LockBody technology platform in a clinical setting. We dosed the first subject with LB101 in March 2023. We look to this study to provide validation to
further advance LB101 and our LockBody technology platform. Additional information on the trial can be accessed at www.clinicaltrials.gov
(NCT05821777).

In August 2023, we announced our second LockBody development candidate, LB206, a conditionally bivalent PD-L1xCD3 bispecific monoclonal
antibody for the treatment of solid tumors, and shared new preclinical data which demonstrated single agent regressions of large tumors with LB206 in a
difficult-to-treat mouse xenograft model.

We continue to invest in expanding our knowledge of our LockBody technology. W e own worldwide rights to our LockBody technology platform,
LB101, LB206, and potential future candidates.

ORX750 in Narcolepsy Type 1 (“NT1”) and other sleep disorders

In March 2023, we announced our development candidate, ORX750, an orally administered, selective OX2 receptor (OX2R) agonist for the
treatment of NT1 with potential expansion into other sleep disorders. NT1 is a neurological disorder caused by the profound loss of orexin-producing
neurons, resulting in a dramatic reduction of orexin levels in the brain and severe symptoms of narcolepsy, including excessive daytime sleepiness and
cataplexy. ORX750 has been designed to directly address orexin loss by restoring orexin receptor activation in NT1. ORX750 was designed by Centessa
using proprietary structure-based drug design capabilities and high-resolution protein crystallography and cryo-electron microscopy (cryo-EM).

On October 25, 2023, we presented a set of new preclinical data from in vivo and in vitro studies of ORX750 at the World Sleep Congress. These
data are from well-established, highly predictive translational mouse models that recapitulate the symptoms of narcolepsy type 1 (NT1) in humans. The
data also include results from healthy wild type mice models in order to support the potential for expansion into broader sleep-wake disorders with normal
orexin tone, including narcolepsy type 2 (NT2) and idiopathic hypersomnia (IH).

The following preclinical data introduce the preclinical profile of ORX750 as the basis for its selection as a development candidate for the
treatment of narcolepsy with potential expansion into other sleep-wake disorders:

*  ORX750 potently activated the OX2R with an in vitro ECsp of 0.11 nM for human recombinant OX2R (hOX2R ) 1.

¢ In a highly predictive, translational orexin/tTA;TetO diphtheria toxin fragment A or “DTA” mouse model and an orexin/ataxin-3 or “Atax” mouse
model, oral administration of ORX750 showed significant activity at the lowest dose tested, which was 0.1 mg/kg in the DTA mouse model, 0.3
mg/kg in the Atax mouse model, and 1 mg/kg in healthy wild type mice. ORX750:

»  Achieved maximal (100%) wake time for at least 3 hours post-dose; 2

»  Suppressed cataplexy for at least 6 hours post-dose; 2

» Increased latency to sleep and cataplexy, which was maintained for >14 days of dosing; 3 and,
* Increased consolidation of wakefulness.*

References: 1. Fluorescent imaging plate reader (FLIPR) assay with Chinese hamster ovary (CHO) cells stably expressing recombinant human OX1R or OX2R; OXA EC50 at
hOX2R = 0.035 nM. 2. As measured by electroencephalogram (EEG) and electromyogram (EMG) with concurrent video in DTA and Atax mouse models. 3. As measured by EEG

and EMG with concurrent video in Atax mouse model. 4. PiezoSleep assay as measured in wild type and Atax mouse models.

We believe these data highlight ORX750's potential as a novel treatment for narcolepsy and other sleep-wake disorders. We are focused on
rapidly moving ORX750 through IND-enabling studies, obtaining IND clearance and initiating clinical development of ORX750 with the goal of sharing
clinical proof of concept data in 2024.

26



In addition to ORX750, Centessa is exploring follow-up molecules for potential expansion opportunities into a range of sleep-wake disorders and
broader neurological indications. We own worldwide rights to ORX750 and our follow-up molecules.

Other Programs

Our other programs consist of earlier-stage preclinical assets and discovery-stage programs across certain other disease areas. Where
applicable, we expect to provide updates on preclinical programs as they advance toward clinical studies.

We own worldwide rights to all of our pipeline programs and may opportunistically evaluate and enter into strategic transactions around certain
product candidates, targets, geographies, or disease areas.

Our Operating Model

We manage our programs dynamically and have a disciplined, data-driven approach to determining which product candidates and programs to
progress, including considering whether the potential product profile or most recent data meet our criteria to justify further investment. In particular, we
apply various scientific, clinical and commercial criteria aggressively throughout the development of each program, and evaluate the merits of each
program individually. In addition, our program decisions are not biased to therapeutic areas or technologies.

We are led by a management team with both subject matter expertise and extensive R&D experience from leading biotech and pharmaceutical
companies. In addition, our program teams are comprised of both inventors of our assets and renowned leaders in their respective fields. Our extensive
knowledge of both our assets and drug development informs our decision-making to advance the science and clinical path to demonstrate
pharmacological activity and proof-of-concept, with the goal of achieving an efficient timeframe and cost-effective budget. Our R&D spend is consistent
with this approach, with the highest spend on the programs that have already established clinical proof of concept. For programs in the earlier stages, we
aim to implement capital-efficient plans to reach the next set of catalysts, gating more significant spending until after we obtain clinical proof of concept.

We have a track record of making judicious capital and resource allocation decisions for discovery and development efforts across our portfolio,
and expeditiously evaluating and terminating programs when the data do not support advancing a program. Consistent with this approach and as part of
ongoing portfolio management, in the first half of 2023, we determined to deprioritize CBS001, a neutralizing therapeutic mAb to the inflammatory
membrane form of LIGHT for inflammatory / fibrotic diseases, CBS004, a therapeutic mAb targeting BDCA-2 for the potential treatment of autoimmune
diseases, and MGX292, a protein-engineered variant of human bone morphogenetic protein 9 (“BMP9”) for the treatment of pulmonary arterial
hypertension (“PAH"), and paused all development activities associated with these assets. We continue to evaluate strategic partnerships and/or
transactions to progress development of CBS001 and CBS004 and have terminated MGX292.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of September 30, 2023, we had cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments of $281.3 million. Since inception, we have devoted
substantially all of our resources to acquiring and developing product and technology rights, conducting research and development in its discovery and
enabling stages, in our clinical and preclinical trials, business operations and raising capital. We have incurred recurring losses and negative cash flows
from operations since inception and have funded operations primarily through the sale and issuance of our equity securities. The ability to generate
product revenue sufficient to achieve profitability will depend heavily on the successful development and eventual commercialization of current or future
product candidates. We expect to continue to incur significant expenses and operating losses for the foreseeable future in connection with ongoing
development activities related to the portfolio of programs as we advance the preclinical and clinical development of product candidates; perform research
activities as we seek to discover and develop additional programs and product candidates; carry out maintenance, expansion enforcement, defense, and
protection of our intellectual property portfolio; and hire additional research and development, clinical and commercial personnel. Further, inflation may
affect our use of capital resources by increasing our cost of labor, research, manufacturing and clinical trial expenses. Based on our current operating
model and development plans, we expect cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments as of September 30, 2023 of $281.3 million, to fund our
operations into 2026 without drawing on the remaining available tranches under the Note Purchase Agreement with Oberland Capital (as defined below) .
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Components of Results of Operations

Revenues

We have not generated any revenue. Our ability to generate product revenue and to become profitable will depend upon the ability to
successfully develop, obtain regulatory approval and commercialize any current and future product candidates. Because of the numerous risks and
uncertainties associated with product development and regulatory approval, we are unable to predict the amount or timing of product revenue.

Research and Development Expense

Research and development expenses consist primarily of costs incurred in connection with the discovery and development of the Company’s
clinical and preclinical programs, net of reimbursements. Research and development costs are expensed as incurred. These expenses include:

¢ expenses incurred to conduct the necessary preclinical studies and clinical trials required to obtain regulatory approval;
* milestone payments pursuant to the license agreements;

e personnel expenses, including salaries, benefits and share-based compensation expense for employees engaged in research and
development functions;

¢ costs of funding research and development performed by third parties, including pursuant to agreements with contract research organizations
("CROs") for active and discontinued programs, as well as investigative sites and consultants that conduct preclinical studies and clinical
trials;

* expenses incurred under agreements with contract manufacturing organizations (“CMOs”), including committed costs for discontinued
programs, manufacturing scale-up expenses and the cost of acquiring and manufacturing preclinical study and clinical trial materials;

« fees paid to consultants who assist with research and development activities;

* expenses related to regulatory activities, including filing fees paid to regulatory agencies; and

¢ allocated expenses for facility costs, including rent, utilities, depreciation and maintenance.

Research and development activities are central to our business model. Product candidates in later stages of clinical development will generally
have higher development costs than those in earlier stages of clinical development, primarily due to the increased size and duration of later-stage clinical
trials. We expect research and development expenses to increase significantly over the next several years due to increases in personnel costs, including

share-based compensation, increases in costs to conduct clinical trials for current product candidates and other clinical trials for future product candidates
and costs to prepare regulatory filings for any product candidates.

The successful development of our current or future product ca ndidates is highly uncertain. At this time, we cannot reasonably estimate or know
the nature, timing and costs of the efforts that will be necessary to complete the remainder of the development of current or future product candidates, or
when, if ever, material net cash inflows may commence from product candidates. This uncertainty is due to the numerous risks and uncertainties
associated with the duration and cost of clinical trials, which vary significantly over the life of a project as a result of many factors, including:

« delays in regulators or institutional review boards authorizing us or its investigators to commence our clinical trials, or in our ability to
negotiate agreements with clinical trial sites or CROs;

« the ability to secure adequate supply of product candidates for trials;

» the number of clinical sites included in the trials;

« the ability and the length of time required to enroll suitable patients;

« the number of patients that ultimately participate and remain in the trials;
» the number of doses patients receive;

* any side effects associated with product candidates;

¢ the duration of patient follow-up;
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* the results of clinical trials;
¢ significant and changing government regulations; and

» launching commercial sales of product candidates, if and when approved, whether alone or in collaboration with others.

Our expenditures are subject to additional uncertainties, including the terms and timing of regulatory approvals. We may never succeed in
achieving regulatory approval for our product candidates.

We may obtain unexpected results from clinical trials and may elect to discontinue, delay or modify clinical trials of product candidates. A change
in the outcome of any of these variables with respect to the development of a product candidate could mean a significant change in the costs and timing
associated with the development of that product candidate. For example, if the European Medicines Agency ("EMA"), FDA or other comparable
regulatory authorities were to require us to conduct clinical trials beyond those that are currently anticipated, or if we experience significant delays in
enrolliment in any clinical trials, we could be required to expend significant additional financial resources and time on the completion of clinical
development. Product commercialization will take several years, and we expect to spend a significant amount in development costs.

Research and Development Tax Incentives

We participate in research tax incentive programs that are granted to companies by the United Kingdom and certain European tax authorities in
order to encourage them to conduct technical and scientific research. Expenditures that meet the required criteria are eligible to receive a tax credit that is
reimbursed in cash. Estimates of the amount of the cash refund expected to be received are determined at each reporting period and recorded as
reductions to research and development expenses. We may not be able to continue to claim the most beneficial payable research and development tax
credits in the future if we cease to qualify as a small or medium enterprise, based on size criteria concerning employee headcount, turnover and gross
assets. In addition, unless our subsidiaries qualify for an exemption, there are limitations to how much tax incentive can be claimed. This limitation is
calculated as the total of the Company's relevant expenditure on employees in the period, multiplied by 300%, plus £20,000.

General and Administrative Expense

General and administrative expense consists primarily of personnel expenses, including salaries and benefits for employees and share-based
compensation. General and administrative expense also includes facility costs, including rent, utilities, depreciation and maintenance, not otherwise
included in research and development expense, as well as legal fees related to intellectual property and corporate matters and fees for accounting,
consulting and other professional services.

Interest Income and Interest Expense

Interest income is primarily interest earned from the Company’s cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments (US Treasury Bills).
Interest expense consists of interest costs related to the Note Purchase Agreement.

Other Income (Expense), net

Other income (expense), net consists primarily of foreign currency transaction gains and losses as well as the change in fair value of the Note
Purchase Agreement.

Foreign Currency Translation

Our financial statements are presented in U.S. dollars ("USD"), the reporting currency of the Company. The functional currency of Centessa
Pharmaceuticals plc is USD and the functional currency of the Centessa Subsidiaries is their respective local currency. Income and expenses have been
translated into USD at average exchange rates prevailing during the period. Assets and liabilities have been translated at the rates of exchange on the
balance sheets dates and equity accounts at their respective historical rates. The resulting translation gain and loss adjustments are recorded directly as
a separate component of shareholders’ equity as other comprehensive income (loss). Transactions denominated in a currency other than the functional
currency are remeasured based upon the exchange rate at the date of remeasurement with the resulting gain or loss included in the accompanying
unaudited interim consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss within Other income (expense), net.
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth the results of operations for the three months ended September 30, 2023 and September 30, 2022 (amounts in
thousands):

Three Months Ended Three Months Ended

September 30, 2023 September 30, 2022
Operating expenses:
Research and development $ 28,190 $ 36,744
General and administrative 12,019 12,284
Change in fair value of contingent value rights — —
Loss from operations (40,209) (49,028)
Interest income 2,953 77
Interest expense (2,541) (1,922)
Other (expense) income, net (1,677) (3,143)
Loss before income tax benefit (41,474) (54,016)
Income tax benefit (2,826) (141)
Net loss $ (38,648) $ (53,875)

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses consist of costs associated with our clinical and preclinical development activities. For programs in the

earlier stages of development, we aim to implement capital-efficient plans to reach the next set of catalysts, gating more significant spending until after we
obtain clinical proof of concept.

Direct research and development costs are tracked on a program-by-program basis and consist primarily of external costs, such as fees paid to
consultants, contractors, CMOs and CROs in connection with preclinical and clinical development activities. License fees and other costs incurred after a
product candidate has been designated and that are directly related to the product candidate are included in direct research and development expenses
for that program. License fees and other costs incurred prior to designating a product candidate are included in early-stage research programs.
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The following table summarizes research and development expenses by program incurred for the following periods (amounts in thousands):

Three Months Ended Three Months Ended
September 30, 2023 September 30, 2022

Prioritized programs:

SerpinPC $ 13,048 $ 5,596
LB101/LockBody technology platform 6,061 5,728
OX2R 1,953 3,642
Discontinued or other programs:
CBS001/CBS004 1,019 1,091
ZF874 129 4,432
MGX292 42 3,546
Lixivaptan 17 5,118
Dual-STAT3/5 — 763
Divested programs () — 724

Non-program specific costs:

Personnel expenses 8,073 8,134
Research tax incentives (2,404) (2,694)
Other preclinical and clinical development expenses 252 664
Research and development expenses $ 28,190 $ 36,744

(*) Includes Pega-One and PearlRiver programs

Research and development expenses for the three months ended September 30, 2023 were $28.2 million, compared with $36.7 million for the
three months ended September 30, 2022. The decrease in research and development expenses reflects lower costs related to discontinued and divested

programs patrtially offset by higher development costs for SerpinPC ($7.5 million), reflecting incremental costs related to the ongoing registrational studies
that were initiated in the fourth quarter of 2022.
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General and Administrative Expenses

The following table summarizes the general and administrative expenses for the following periods (amounts in thousands):

Three Months Ended Three Months Ended

September 30, 2023 September 30, 2022
Personnel expenses $ 7,120 $ 6,511
Legal and professional fees 2,715 3,036
Other expenses 2,184 2,737
$ 12,019 $ 12,284

General and administrative expenses for the three months ended September 30, 2023 were $12.0 million, compared to $12.3 million for the three
months ended September 30, 2022. Personnel expenses were higher in 2023 driven by higher share-based compensation expense of $0.4 million. The
higher personnel costs compared with the three months ended September 30, 2022 were more than offset by lower professional fees and lower
insurance costs.

Interest Income and Interest Expense

For the three months ended September 30, 2023, interest income was $3.0 million reflecting interest earned from our cash and cash equivalents
as well as short-term marketable securities. Interest expense was $2.5 million in the third quarter of 2023, up $0.6 million from the third quarter of 2022,
as a result of a higher interest rate on the Note Purchase Agreement.

Other (Expense) Income, net

Other (expense) income, net for the three months ended September 30, 2023 was a net expense of $1.7 million, primarily reflecting a loss of
$0.7 million related to remeasuring the Note Purchase Agreement at fair value at September 30, 2023, as well as foreign currency transaction losses.
Other (expense) income, net for the three months ended September 30, 2022 was a net expense of $3.1 million, primarily reflecting foreign currency
transaction losses of $2.3 million and an $0.8 million loss related to remeasuring the Note Purchase Agreement at fair value at September 30, 2022.

Income Tax Benefit

The company recorded an income tax benefit of $2.8 million for the three months ended September 30, 2023 compared with an income tax
benefit of $0.1 million for the three months ended September 30, 2022. The higher income tax benefit during the three months ended September 30,
2023 reflected a change in estimate due to the finalization of a tax return filing.
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth the results of operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 and September 30, 2022 (amounts in
thousands):

Nine Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, 2023 September 30, 2022
Operating expenses:

Research and development $ 94,689 $ 127,248
General and administrative 41,416 41,432
Change in fair value of contingent value rights — 1,980
Loss from operations (136,105) (170,660)
Interest income 7,543 205
Interest expense (7,336) (5,074)
Other (expense) income, net (4,550) 2,412
Loss before income tax (benefit) expense (140,448) (173,117)
Income tax (benefit) expense (26,200) (83)
Net loss $ (114,248) $ (173,034)

Research and Development Expenses

The following table summarizes research and development expenses by program incurred for the following periods (amounts in thousands):

Nine Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, 2023 September 30, 2022

Prioritized programs:

SerpinPC $ 37,505 $ 13,900
LB101/LockBody technology platform 25,560 13,408
OX2R 10,267 15,481
Discontinued or other programs:
MGX292 7,022 9,106
CBS001/CBS004 2,152 5,137
Lixivaptan 903 28,203
ZF874 319 9,939
Dual-STAT3/5 — 4,541
Divested programs ) — 5,157
Non-program specific costs:
Personnel expenses 25,207 29,558
Research tax incentives (16,227) (8,820)
Other preclinical and clinical development expenses 1,981 1,638
Research and development expenses $ 94,689 $ 127,248

(*) Includes Pega-One and PearlRiver programs

Research and development expenses for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 were $94.7 million, compared with $127.2 million for the
nine months ended September 30, 2022. The decrease in research and development expenses reflects lower costs related to discontinued and divested
programs partially offset by higher development costs for SerpinPC ($23.6 million), reflecting incremental costs related to the ongoing registrational
studies that were initiated in the fourth quarter of 2022, and higher development costs for our LockBody technology platform ($12.2 million) primarily
associated with the ongoing Phase 1/2a clinical trial of LB101 that was initiated in the first quarter of 2023. Personnel expenses decreased $4.4
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million compared to the first six months of 2022 driven by lower employee salary costs related to discontinued programs partially offset by higher share-
based compensation expense ($1.2 million).

General and Administrative Expenses

The following table summarizes the general and administrative expenses for the following periods (amounts in thousands):

Nine Months Ended Nine Months Ended

September 30, 2023 September 30, 2022
Personnel expenses $ 21,960 $ 19,359
Legal and professional fees 8,828 10,671
Other expenses 10,628 11,402
$ 41,416 $ 41,432

General and administrative expenses for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 was $41.4 million, compared to $41.4 million for the nine
months ended September 30, 2022 as higher share-based compensation as well as higher costs related to aresource planning (“ERP”) system
implementation in the first quarter of 2023 were offset by lower professional fees and insurance costs. Personnel expenses increased $2.6 million
compared with the first nine months of 2022, reflecting higher share-based compensation expense of $2.4 million.

Interest Income and Interest Expense

For the nine months ended September 30, 2023, interest income was $7.5 million, which was up $7.3 million from the nine months ended
September 30, 2022, reflecting interest earned from our cash and cash equivalents as well as short-term marketable securities. In 2023, we began
investing excess cash in US Treasury Bills and SEC-registered money market funds in addition to cash deposits.

Interest expense was $7.3 million in the first nine months of 2023, up $2.3 million from the first nine months of 2022, as a result of a higher
average interest rate on the Note Purchase Agreement.

Other (Expense) Income, net

Other (expense) income, net for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 was a net expense of $4.6 million, mainly reflecting a loss of $4.2
million related to remeasuring the Note Purchase Agreement at fair value at September 30, 2023. Other income, net for the nine months ended
September 30, 2022 was $2.4 million, primarily reflecting an $7.5 million gain related to remeasuring the Note Purchase Agreement at fair value at
September 30, 2022, partially offset by foreign currency transaction losses of $4.9 million.

Income Tax Benefit

The Company recorded an income tax benefit of $26.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 compared with an income tax
benefit of $83 thousand for the nine months ended September 30, 2022. The higher income tax benefit in 2023 was primarily the result of the release of a
valuation allowance as a result of an internal reorganization of its subsidiaries that occurred in the second quarter of 2023 as well as a change in estimate
in the third quarter of 2023 related to the finalization of a tax return filing.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Sources of Liquidity

As of September 30, 2023, we had cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments of $281.3 million, of which $171.5 million was classified as
cash and cash equivalents and $109.8 million was classified as short-term investments on our Consolidated Balance Sheet. In the first quarter of 2023,
we began investing excess cash in US Treasury Bills and SEC-registered money market funds in addition to cash deposits. Securities with original
maturities of three months or less when
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purchased are included in cash and cash equivalents. We consider investments with original maturities greater than three months and remaining
maturities less than one year to be short-term investments.

In October 2021, we entered into a financing agreement with funds managed by Oberland Capital, which provides us additional funds to further
scale up our development activities and to enhance balance sheet flexibility for potential pipeline extension. Under the terms of the agreement, Oberland
Capital will purchase up to $300.0 million of 6-year, interest-only, senior secured notes from us including $75.0 million, funded on October 4, 2021, $125.0
million available in tranches of $50 million (available through December 2023) and $75 million (available through September 2024), in each case,
available at our option, and $100.0 million available to fund M&A, in-licensing, or other strategic transactions, at our option and Oberland Capital. The
maturity date of the Oberland Capital Notes is October 4, 2027.

We filed a shelf registration statement on Form S-3 (the “Shelf”) with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”"), which covers the
offering, issuance and sale of an amount up to $350.0 million in the aggregate of our ordinary shares, American Depository Shares representing ordinary
shares, debt securities, warrants, and/or units or any combination thereof. On July 12, 2022, the Shelf became effective. We entered into a Sales
Agreement, dated January 27, 2023, by and between Centessa Pharmaceuticals plc and Leerink Partners LLC (formerly SVB Securities LLC). As sales
agent, Leerink Partners LLC will provide for the issuance and sale by the Company of up to $125.0 million of its ordinary shares represented by American
Depository Shares from time to time in “at-the-market” offerings under the Shelf, which we refer to as the ATM Program. In early August 2023, we sold
2,040,816 ordinary shares under the ATM Program, resulting in net proceeds to us of approximately $14.6 million.

We have no other ongoing material financing commitments, such as lines of credit or guarantees, that are expected to affect liquidity over the
next five years.

Cash Flows

The following table shows a summary of cash flows for the periods indicated (amounts in thousands):

Nine Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, 2023 September 30, 2022
Net cash (used in) provided by:
Operating activities $ (129,292) $ (148,982)
Investing activities (108,729) (485)
Financing activities 14,756 368
Exchange rate effect on cash and cash equivalents 1,119 (2,140)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents $ (222,146) $ (150,239)

Operating Activities

During the nine months ended September 30, 2023, we used $129.3 million of net cash in operating activities. Cash used in operating activities
reflected a net loss of $114.2 million as well as net outflows of approximately $15.5 million related to paying down net payables during the period. A non-
cash net benefit due to the release of a tax valuation allowance included in the net loss was largely offset by non-cash net charges of $26.7 million
for share-based compensation, depreciation and amortization expense and changes in the fair value of debt.

During the nine months ended September 30, 2022, net cash used in operating activities was $149.0 million, reflecting a net loss of $173.0
million, partially offset by non-cash net charges of $12.9 million for share-based compensation, depreciation expense and changes in the fair value of
financial instruments and an increase of $11.2 million of net operating liabilities.

Investing Activities

During the nine months ended September 30, 2023, net cash used in investing activities was $108.7 million, largely reflecting the investment of
excess cash in U.S. Treasury securities that are presented as short-term investments in our balance sheet.
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Financing Activities

During the nine months ended September 30, 2023, net cash provided by financing activities was $14.8 million, primarily reflecting the proceeds
from the ATM program.

Funding Requirements

We expect to continue to incur significant expenses for the foreseeable future in connection with ongoing development activities related to the
portfolio of programs as we advance the preclinical and clinical development of product candidates. While we expect our expenses to decline in 2023
compared with 2022 as a result of lower costs from discontinued and divested programs, we expect expenses to increase over the long term in
connection with certain activities, particularly as we continue the research and development of, continue or initiate clinical trials of, and seek marketing
approval for any current and future product candidates. In addition, if marketing approval is obtained for any product candidates, we expect to incur
significant commercialization expenses related to product sales, marketing, manufacturing and distribution. In addition, inflation may affect our use of
capital resources by increasing our cost of labor, research and clinical trial expenses. Accordingly, there will be a need to obtain substantial additional
funding in connection with the continuing operations. If we are unable to raise capital when needed or on attractive terms, we would be forced to delay,
reduce or eliminate research and development programs or future commercialization efforts.

Over the long term, we anticipate that our expenses will increase substantially as we:

¢ seek to discover and develop current and future clinical and preclinical product candidates;

» scale up clinical and regulatory capabilities;

e adapt regulatory compliance efforts to incorporate requirements applicable to marketed products;

« establish a sales, marketing and distribution infrastructure and scale up external manufacturing capabilities to commercialize any product
candidates for which regulatory approval may be obtained,;

¢ maintain, expand and protect the intellectual property portfolio;
« hire additional internal or external clinical, manufacturing and scientific personnel or consultants;

¢ add operational, financial and management information systems and personnel, including personnel to support product development efforts;
and

« incur additional legal, accounting and other expenses in operating as a public company.
Because of the numerous risks and uncertainties associated research, development and commercialization of product candidates, we are unable

to estimate the exact amount of its working capital requirements. Future funding requirements will depend on and could increase significantly as a result
of many factors, including:

» the scope, progress, results and costs of preclinical studies and clinical trials;

¢ the scope, prioritization and number of research and development programs;

« the costs, timing and outcome of regulatory review of product candidates;

¢ the ability to establish and maintain collaborations on favorable terms, if at all;

» the extent to which obligations to reimburse exist, or entitled to reimbursement of, clinical trial costs under collaboration agreements, if any;

e the costs of preparing, filing and prosecuting patent applications, maintaining and enforcing intellectual property rights and defending
intellectual property-related claims;

e the costs of securing manufacturing arrangements for commercial production; and

» the costs of establishing or contracting for sales and marketing capabilities if regulatory approvals are obtained to market product candidates.

Identifying potential product candidates and conducting preclinical studies and clinical trials is a time-consuming, expensive and uncertain
process that takes many years to complete, and may never generate the necessary data or results required to obtain marketing approval and achieve

product sales. In addition, product candidates, if approved, may not achieve commercial success. Commercial revenues, if any, will be derived from sales
of product candidates that we do not expect to be
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commercially available for the next couple of years, if at all. Accordingly, we will need to continue to rely on additional financing to achieve our business
objectives. Adequate additional financing may not be available on acceptable terms, or at all.

Critical Accounting Policies

Management'’s discussion and analysis of its financial condition and results of operations is based on our unaudited interim consolidated financial
statements which have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. The preparation of these financial statements
requires estimates and judgments be made that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, and expenses and the disclosure of contingent assets
and liabilities in the financial statements. On an ongoing basis, an evaluation of estimates and judgments are required, including those related to accrued
research and development expenses, the Note Purchase Agreement, share-based compensation and tax-related matters. Estimates are based on
historical experience, known trends and events, and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of
which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual
results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

While the significant accounting policies are described in more detail in Note 2 to our unaudited interim consolidated financial statements, the
following accounting policies are the most critical to the judgments and estimates used in the preparation of the unaudited interim consolidated financial
statements.

Research and Development Accruals

Research and development expenses consist primarily of costs incurred in connection with the development of product candidates. Research
and development costs are expensed as incurred.

Expenses for preclinical studies and clinical trial activities performed by third parties are accrued based upon estimates of the proportion of work
completed over the term of the individual trial and patient enrollment rates in accordance with agreements with CROs and clinical trial sites. Estimates
are determined by reviewing external service providers as to the progress or stage of completion of trials or services and the agreed-upon fee to be paid
for such services. However, actual costs and timing of clinical trials are highly uncertain, subject to risks and may change depending upon a number of
factors, including the clinical development plan.

Estimates of accrued expenses are made as of each balance sheet date in the financial statements based on facts and circumstances known at
that time. If the actual timing of the performance of services or the level of effort varies from the estimate, an adjustment to the accrual will be made
accordingly. Nonrefundable advance payments for goods and services, including fees for process development or manufacturing and distribution of
clinical supplies that will be used in future research and development activities, are recognized as expense in the period that the related goods are
consumed or services are performed.

Milestone payments within our licensing arrangements are recognized when achievement of the milestone is deemed probable to occur. To the
extent products are commercialized and future economic benefit has been established, commercial milestones that become probable are capitalized and
amortized over the estimated remaining useful life of the intellectual property. In addition, royalty expenses are accrued and sublicense non-royalty
payments, as applicable, for the amount it is obligated to pay, with adjustments as sales are made.

Note Purchase Agreement

As discussed further in Note 5 - Debt, in October 2021, we entered into a Note Purchase Agreement with Oberland Capital Management LLC
(“Oberland Capital”). Under the terms of the agreement, as amended, Oberland Capital will purchase up to $300.0 million of 6-year, interest-only, senior
secured notes (the “Notes”) from us including $75.0 million, funded on October 4, 2021, $50 million available through December 2023 at the Company’s
option, $75 million available through September 2024 at the Company’s option and $100 million available to fund Mergers and Acquisitions (“M&A”), in-
licensing, or other strategic transactions, at the option of the Company and Oberland Capital. In addition to interest payments on the principal, we are
obligated to pay a Milestone payment equal to 30% of the aggregate principal amount issued under the Notes upon regulatory approval of any drug
candidate.

We evaluated the notes and determined that the notes include embedded derivatives that would otherwise require bifurcation as derivative

liabilities. Neither the debt instrument nor any embedded features are required to be classified as equity. Therefore, the hybrid financial instrument
comprised of the debt host and the embedded derivative liability may be
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accounted for under the fair value option. We elected to carry the Notes at fair value, and the debt instrument is outside the scope of ASC 480,
Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity, and thus will be classified as a liability under ASC 470, Debt, in our financial statements. As we had elected to
account for the Notes under the fair value option, debt issuance costs were immediately expensed.

The fair value of the Note Purchase Agreement represents the present value of estimated future payments, including interest, principal as well as
estimated payments that are contingent upon the achievement of specified milestones. The fair value of the notes is based on the cumulative probability
of the various estimated payments. The fair value measurement is based on significant Level 3 unobservable inputs such as the probability of achieving
the milestones, anticipated timelines, probability and timing of an early redemption of all obligations under the agreement and discount rate. Any changes
in the fair value of the liability are recognized in the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive loss until it is settled.

Share-Based Compensation

We measure share-based awards at their grant-date fair value and record compensation expense on a straight-line basis over the vesting period
of the awards. Following the completion of our IPO, the fair value of our ordinary shares was determined based on the quoted market price of our ADSs
representing our ordinary shares. We account for forfeitures of stock option awards as they occur.

We use the Black-Scholes option pricing model to value the Company’s stock option awards. The expected life of the stock options is estimated
using the “simplified method,” as we have limited historical information from which to develop reasonable expectations about future exercise patterns and
post-vesting employment termination behavior for its stock option grants. The simplified method is the midpoint between the vesting period and the
contractual term of the option. For share price volatility, we use comparable public companies as a basis for its expected volatility to calculate the fair
value of option grants. The risk-free rate is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve commensurate with the expected life of the option.

Leases

In accordance with ASC 842, the Company assesses whether an arrangement is a lease, or contains a lease at the inception of the
arrangement. When an arrangement contains a lease, the Company categorizes leases with contractual terms longer than twelve months as either
operating or finance. Finance leases are generally those leases that allow us to substantially utilize or pay for the entire asset over its estimated life.
Assets acquired under finance leases are recorded in “Property and equipment, net.” All other leases are categorized as operating leases.

The Company records right-of use ("ROU") assets and lease obligations for its finance and operating leases, which are initially recognized based
on the discounted future lease payments over the term of the lease. As the rate implicit in the Company's leases may not be easily determinable, the
Company uses its incremental borrowing rate to calculate the present value of the sum of the lease payments. Lease terms may include options to
extend or terminate the lease. The Company will include such options in determining the lease term when it is reasonably certain that the Company will
exercise such options. Operating and finance lease ROU assets are recognized net of any lease prepayments and incentives. The Company elected the
practical expedient to not separate lease and non-lease components and, accordingly, accounts for them as a single lease component. Operating lease
expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Finance lease expense is recognized based on the effective-interest method over the
lease term. The Company elected not to recognize ROU assets and lease obligations for any short-term leases, which are defined as leases with an
initial term of 12 months or less.

Tax Valuation Allowance

We regularly assess our ability to realize our deferred tax assets. Assessing the realization of deferred tax assets requires significant judgment.
In determining whether our deferred tax assets are more likely than not realizable, we evaluate all available positive and negative evidence, and weighed
the evidence based on its objectivity. After consideration of the evidence, including our history of cumulative net losses in the U.K., we concluded that it is
more likely than not that we will not realize the benefits of our U.K. deferred tax assets and accordingly we have provided a valuation allowance for the
full amount of the net deferred tax assets in the U.K. After consideration of the evidence, including changes resulting from an internal reorganization of
subsidiaries in the second quarter of 2023 and cumulative and expected income of an operating entity that carries out services for other entities in the
group, we concluded that it is more likely than not that we will realize the benefits of our United States deferred tax assets, and accordingly, in the second
quarter of 2023, we released a previously recorded valuation allowance on our United States deferred tax assets.
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Contractual Obligations and Other Commitments

As of September 30, 2023, other than what has been disclosed in Note 6 — Commitment and contingencies, we had no material contractual
obligations and other commitments associated with contracts that are enforceable and legally binding and that specify all significant terms, including fixed
or minimum services to be used, fixed, minimum or variable price provisions, and the approximate timing of the actions under the contracts.

Emerging Growth Company and Smaller Reporting Company Status

We are an emerging growth company, as defined in the JOBS Act. Under the JOBS Act, emerging growth companies can delay the adoption of
new or revised accounting standards issued subsequent to the enactment of the JOBS Act until such time as those standards apply to private companies.
Other exemptions and reduced reporting requirements under the JOBS Act for emerging growth companies include presentation of only two years of
audited financial statements in a registration statement for an initial public offering, an exemption from the requirement to provide an auditor’s report on
internal controls over financial reporting pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as amended, an exemption from any requirement
that may be adopted by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board regarding mandatory audit firm rotation and less extensive disclosure about our
executive compensation arrangements. We have elected to use the extended transition period for complying with new or revised accounting standards
that have different effective dates for public and private companies until the earlier of the date that (i) we are no longer an emerging growth company or
(i) we affirmatively and irrevocably opt out of the extended transition period provided in the JOBS Act.

We will remain an emerging growth company until the earliest of (i) the last day of our first fiscal year in which we have total annual gross
revenues of $1.235 billion or more, (i) following the fifth anniversary of the closing of our initial public offering, (iii) the date on which we are deemed to be
a “large accelerated filer,” under the rules of the SEC, which means the market value of equity securities that is held by non-affiliates exceeds $700.0
million as of the prior June 30th and (iv) the date on which we have issued more than $1.0 billion in non-convertible debt securities during the prior three-
year period.

We are also a “smaller reporting company” as defined in the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”). If we are a smaller reporting
company at the time we cease to be an emerging growth company, we may continue to rely on exemptions from certain disclosure requirements that are
available to smaller reporting companies. Specifically, as a smaller reporting company we may choose to present only the two most recent fiscal years of
audited financial statements in our Annual Report on Form 10-K and, similar to emerging growth companies, smaller reporting companies have reduced
disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation.

Item 3. Qualitative and Quantitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Under SEC rules and regulations, as a smaller reporting company, we are not required to provide the information required by this item.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer (our principal executive officer and principal
financial officer, respectively), evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of September 30, 2023. The term “disclosure
controls and procedures,” as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (“Exchange Act”),
means controls and other procedures of a company that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that
it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and
forms.

Based on the evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of September 30, 2023, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of September 30, 2023. Our management has concluded that the
financial statements included in this report present fairly, in all material respects, our financial position, results of operations and cash flows in conformity
with GAAP.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

No changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) have occurred
during the three months ended September 30, 2023 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over
financial reporting.
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PART Il - OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

From time to time, we may become involved in litigation or other legal proceedings. On September 28, 2022 (“Original Complaint”), the Company
and certain of its current and former officers were named as defendants in a proposed class-action lawsuit filed in the United States District Court for the
Central District of California. The complaint generally alleges that the Company violated Sections 10(b) and 20(a) and Sections 11 and 15 of the
Securities Act by allegedly making materially false and/or misleading statements, as well as allegedly failing to disclose material adverse facts relating to
the safety profile and future clinical and commercial prospects of each of its lixivaptan and ZF874 programs, which caused the Company’s securities to
trade at artificially inflated prices. On October 12, 2022, by order, the lawsuit was transferred to the United States District Court for the Southern District of
New York. On February 10, 2023, an amended complaint was filed (“Amended Complaint”) in which our IPO underwriters were added as co-defendants.
A number of the complaints set forth in the Original Complaint have been abandoned including with respect to intentional fraud theory and claims
pursuant to Sections 10(b) or 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. The only claims alleged in the Amended Complaint are violations of Sections
11 and 15 of the Securities Act based on alleged misstatements in the S-1 filed by the Company in connection with its Initial Public Offering. The
Amended Complaint also abandoned any claims concerning ZF874 and focuses entirely on lixivaptan. The Amended Complaint seeks damages and
attorneys’ fees, among other things. The Company believes this lawsuit is without merit and intends to defend the case vigorously. Litigation and related
matters are costly and may divert the attention of the Company’s management and other resources that would otherwise be engaged in other activities.
The Company has not recorded an estimate of the possible loss associated with this legal proceeding due to the uncertainties related to both the
likelihood and the amount of any possible loss or range of loss. Regardless of outcome, litigation can have an adverse impact on our business, financial
condition, results of operations and prospects because of defense and settlement costs, diversion of management resources and other factors.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

Our business involves significant risks, some of which are described below. You should carefully consider the risks described below, as well as the other
information in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and in other documents we file with the SEC, including our financial statements and the related notes
and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.” The occurrence of any of the events or developments
described below could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, growth prospects and stock price. In such
an event, the market price of our ADSs could decline, and you may lose all or part of your investment. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently
known to us or that we currently deem immaterial may also impair our business operations and the market price of our ADSs.

Risks Related to our Business Model and Structure

We may not be successful in our efforts to use our differentiated asset-centric approach to drug discovery and development to build a
pipeline of product candidates with commercial value.

A key element of Centessa’s strategy is to use our differentiated asset-centric approach to drug discovery and development to develop high
conviction programs, product candidates, technologies or intellectual property that we believe are novel, employ differentiated mechanisms of action, or
have a combination of these attributes to ultimately deliver transformational medicines to patients. We face significant competition in sourcing high
conviction programs, product candidates, technologies or intellectual property, strategic partnerships and licensing and acquisition opportunities, and the
negotiation process is time-consuming, costly and complex. We may not be successful in our efforts in building a pipeline of high conviction product
candidates for the treatment of various diseases and disorders through acquisitions, licensing or through internal development or in progressing these
product candidates through clinical development. Although our research and development efforts to date have resulted in our identification, discovery and
preclinical and clinical development of certain of our product candidates, these product candidates may not be safe or effective treatments or therapies in
humans, and we may not be able to develop any other product candidates. Although we analyze whether we can replicate scientific results observed
prior to our acquisition or investment in a product candidate, we may not be successful in doing so after our investment. Our asset-centric approach to
drug discovery and development is evolving and may not succeed in building a pipeline of product candidates. Even if we are successful in building our
pipeline of product candidates, the potential product candidates that we identify may not be suitable for clinical development or generate acceptable
clinical data in humans, including as a result of unacceptable toxicity or other characteristics that indicate that they are unlikely to receive marketing
approval from the FDA, or other regulatory authorities or achieve market acceptance. If we do not successfully develop and commercialize product
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candidates, we will not be able to generate product revenue in the future, which likely would result in significant harm to our financial position and
adversely affect the price of our ADSs.

As part of our business strategy, we may expand our product candidate pipeline through in-licenses or acquisitions of discovery or development-
stage assets or programs, which entails additional risk to us. While we believe our asset-centric approach offers an attractive platform for these
transactions and for founder subject-matter experts and potential partners, our approach is unique and we may not be able to attract or execute
transactions with founder-subject matter experts, sellers, licensors or collaborators who may choose to divest to or grant license to companies that employ
more traditional licensing and collaboration approaches. Identifying, selecting, and acquiring promising product candidates requires substantial technical,
financial and human resources expertise. Efforts to do so may not result in the actual acquisition or license of a successful product candidate, potentially
resulting in a diversion of our management’s time and the expenditure of our resources with no resulting benefit. For example, if we are unable to identify
programs that ultimately result in approved products, we may spend material amounts of our capital and other resources evaluating, acquiring, and
developing product candidates that ultimately do not provide a return on our investment. We may terminate programs in the future if they do not meet our
criteria for advancement.

A single or limited number of subsidiaries, developmental assets or product candidates may comprise a large proportion of our value.

A large proportion of our value may at any time reside in a limited number of our subsidiaries and/or developmental assets or product candidates.
Our consolidated financial condition and prospects may be materially diminished if the clinical development or potential commercialization prospects of
one of our product candidates or programs or one or more of the intellectual property rights held by us become impaired. Furthermore, a large proportion
of our consolidated revenue may at any time be derived from one, or a small number of, licensed technologies, and termination or expiration of licenses
to these technologies would likely have a material adverse effect on our consolidated revenue. Any material adverse impact on the value of intellectual
property rights or the clinical development of product candidates or programs, could have a material adverse effect on our consolidated business,
financial condition, results of operations or prospects.

We may expend our limited resources to pursue a particular product candidate or indication and fail to capitalize on product candidates or
indications that may be more profitable or for which there is a greater likelihood of success.

Because we have limited financial and managerial resources, we must focus on a limited number of research programs and product candidates
and on specific indications. As a result, we may forego or delay pursuit of opportunities with other product candidates or for other indications that later
prove to have greater commercial potential, or we may fail to recognize or acquire assets that may be more promising than those we acquire. Our
resource allocation decisions may cause us to fail to capitalize on viable commercial products or profitable market opportunities. Our spending on current
and future identification, discovery, and preclinical development programs and product candidates for specific indications may not yield any commercially
viable products.

We face challenges, risks and expenses related to the operations of our Centessa Subsidiaries, as well as the management of the expected
growth in the scale and complexity of our operations.

In January 2021, we acquired the ownership interests of our Centessa Subsidiaries. These Centessa Subsidiaries have historically operated as
independent entities with generally separate management and operational teams. As a result, we have needed to and continue to need to expend
significant resources and efforts in integrating the operations of these Centessa Subsidiaries into our larger organization, and such integration activities
may be challenging due to the number of Centessa Subsidiaries acquired and the heterogeneity of their historical operations. For example, these
Centessa Subsidiaries’ programs span a range of therapeutic modalities and are designed to address a variety of disease areas. In addition, the
Centessa Subsidiaries have conducted their business in a variety of jurisdictions in the U.S. and Europe. All of our Centessa Subsidiaries have had
historical relationships with different licensors, contract organizations and other third-party vendors.

Each Centessa Subsidiary has historically had its own operational, legal, financial and management controls, reporting systems and procedures
and integrating such controls, reporting systems and procedures may be challenging and we may not be successful in doing so. We believe certain
synergies may be achieved by harmonizing the operational, legal, financial and management controls, reporting systems and procedures but we may not
be successful in our harmonization efforts and this may result in not only being unable to take advantage of synergies but expose us to additional
operational, legal and financial risks and exposures associated with several levels of disparate systems and procedures. With limited resources,
historically the Centessa Subsidiaries may not have dedicated sufficient resources to ensure its operational, legal, financial and management
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controls, reporting systems, compliance and other procedures meet required standards and this may expose us to historical non-compliance
investigations and liabilities, which may have a material adverse effect on our operations. In mid-2023, we implemented a corporate consolidation of our
UK businesses in order to simplify our administrative operations, obtain operational efficiencies and, generate administrative cost savings and improve
the overall control environment. This has resulted in the business and assets of our UK subsidiaries, Z Factor Limited, Centessa Pharmaceuticals
(Morphogen-IX) Limited, Capella Bioscience Ltd, LockBody Therapeutics Ltd, Inexia Limited, Centessa Pharmaceuticals (Orexia) Limited and Janpix
Limited being transferred to Centessa Pharmaceuticals (UK) Limited. We intend to dissolve each of Z Factor Limited, Centessa Pharmaceuticals
(Morphogen-IX) Limited, Capella Bioscience Ltd, LockBody Therapeutics Ltd, Inexia Limited, Centessa Pharmaceuticals (Orexia) Limited and Janpix
Limited over the coming months in accordance with applicable UK statutory rules. As part of such dissolution, we may discover previously unknown
purported creditors or otherwise be delayed in implementing the dissolutions and this may result in our business, financial condition, and results of
operations being harmed or expose us to additional risks.

As of November 1, 2023 we had 75 employees. We may not be successful in integrating and retaining such employees or find replacements
which could have a material adverse effect on our ability to develop and commercialize our programs and product candidates. As our development and
commercialization plans and strategies develop, and as we refine our operations as a public company, we expect to need additional managerial,
operational, sales, marketing, legal, financial and other personnel. Future growth would impose significant added responsibilities on members of
management, including:

« identifying, recruiting, integrating, maintaining and motivating additional employees;

* managing our internal development efforts effectively, including the clinical and FDA review process for our product candidates, while
complying with our contractual obligations to contractors and other third parties; and

e improving our operational, legal, financial and management controls, reporting systems and procedures.

Our future financial performance and our ability to commercialize any product candidates that are approved for marketing will depend, in part, on
our ability to effectively manage any future growth, and our management may also have to divert a disproportionate amount of its attention away from
day-to-day activities in order to devote a substantial amount of time to managing these growth activities.

We currently rely, and for the foreseeable future will continue to rely, in substantial part on certain independent organizations, advisors and
consultants to provide certain services, including substantially all aspects of regulatory approval, clinical trial management and manufacturing. There can
be no assurance that the services of independent organizations, advisors and consultants will continue to be available to us on a timely basis when
needed, or that we can find qualified replacements. In addition, if we are unable to effectively manage our outsourced activities or if the quality or
accuracy of the services provided by consultants is compromised for any reason, our clinical trials may be extended, delayed or terminated, and we may
not be able to obtain regulatory approval of our product candidates or otherwise advance our business. There can be no assurance that we will be able to
manage our existing consultants or find other competent outside contractors and consultants on economically reasonable terms, or at all.

If we are not able to effectively expand our organization by hiring new employees and expanding our groups of consultants and contractors, we
may not be able to successfully implement the tasks necessary to further develop and potentially commercialize our product candidates and, accordingly,
may not achieve our research, development and commercialization goals. We may not have sufficient funding to support our expansion.

Our reliance on a small team of employees located in different geographies who provide services (including administrative, research and
development, and other services) across our organization presents operational challenges that may adversely affect our business.

As of November 1, 2023, we had 75 full-time equivalent employees who are located in different geographies across the U.S., U.K. and the
European Union who provide services across our organization (including operational, administrative, research and development, and other support
services). We also have consultants who we rely on for research and development, business development, and other services. While we believe this
structure enables us to reduce certain infrastructure costs, the small size of our team may limit our ability to devote adequate personnel, time, and
resources to support our operational, research and development activities, and the management of compliance, financial, accounting, and reporting
matters. If our team fails to provide adequate operational, administrative, research and development, or other services across our entire organization, our
business, financial condition, and results of operations could be harmed.
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Some of our officers currently serve, and in the future may serve, as directors or officers of our Centessa Subsidiaries, and, as a result, have
and may continue to have, statutory, fiduciary and other duties to our subsidiaries causing conflicts of interest with respect to their duties to
us and their duties to our subsidiaries and in determining how to devote themselves to our affairs and the affairs of our subsidiaries. Our
subsidiaries’ partners may also disagree with the sufficiency of resources that we provide to each Centessa Subsidiary.

Certain of our officers, including Igbal Hussain, our General Counsel, Gregory Weinhoff, our Chief Financial Officer and David Chao, PhD, our
Chief Administrative Officer are directors and/or officers of certain Centessa Subsidiaries and, as a result, have fiduciary or other duties both to us and our
subsidiaries. Drs. Saha, Weinhoff and Chao and Mr. Hussain do not receive any additional compensation for their service as directors of our Centessa
Subsidiaries. The conflicts of interest that arise from such duties could interfere with the management of our subsidiaries and their programs and product
candidates, or result in disagreements with our subsidiaries’ partners. For example, an individual who is both a director of one of our subsidiaries and an
officer of Centessa owes statutory and fiduciary duties to the Centessa Subsidiary and to us, and such individual may encounter circumstances in which
his or her decision or action may benefit the Centessa Subsidiary while having a detrimental impact on Centessa, or vice versa, or on another Centessa
Subsidiary, including one for which he or she also serves as a director. Further, in the future, certain of our officers may serve as officers and directors of
our Centessa Subsidiaries. Any such individual would need to allocate his or her time to responsibilities owed to Centessa and each of the Centessa
Subsidiaries for which he or she serves as an officer or director, and would make decisions on behalf of one entity that may negatively impact others. In
addition, disputes could arise between us and our Centessa Subsidiary’s partners regarding a conflict of interest or perceived conflict of interest arising
from the overlap between the officers and directors of the Centessa Subsidiary and those of Centessa. These partners also may disagree with the amount
and quality of resources that are devoted to the Centessa Subsidiary they are invested in. Any such disputes or disagreements could distract our
management, interfere with our relations with our partners, and take significant time to resolve, which could disrupt the development of our product
candidates, delay our potential commercialization efforts, result in increased costs or make it less likely that other third parties will choose to partner with
us in the future.

Certain of our programs are subject to certain agreements that provide our licensors and/or collaborators with rights that could delay or
impact our ability to sell assets, or enter into strategic alliances, collaborations or licensing arrangements with other third parties or the
potential sale of our Centessa Subsidiaries.

Certain of our programs are subject to licenses of intellectual property from third parties and we expect such practice to continue in the future.
These third parties have certain rights that could delay collaboration, licensing or other arrangements with another third party, and the existence of these
rights may adversely impact our ability to attract an acquirer or partner. These rights include rights of negotiation and fees payable upon a sale of assets
or change of control of a Centessa Subsidiary that are contained in license agreements, payments upon satisfaction of milestones, royalty payments,
diligence obligations and other customary terms contained in agreements for the in-license of programs and their intellectual property.

We may incorporate, form or otherwise acquire additional subsidiaries and enter into similar agreements with future counterparties, or our
Centessa Subsidiaries may enter into further agreements, that in each case may contain similar provisions or other terms that are not favorable to us.

Preclinical and clinical development is a long, expensive and uncertain process, and we may terminate one or more of our current preclinical
and/or clinical development programs.

We may determine that certain product candidates or programs (preclinical and/or clinical) do not have sufficient potential to warrant the
continued allocation of resources toward them. Accordingly, we may elect to terminate our programs for and, in certain cases, our licenses to, such
product candidates or programs. If we terminate programs in which we have invested significant resources, we will have expended resources on a
program that will not provide a full return on our investment and missed the opportunity to have allocated those resources to potentially more productive
uses. In addition, program termination may result in significant additional wind-down related costs being incurred including penalties, redundancy and
severance and professional fees and may expose us to additional risks including contractual breach and employment termination claims and may divert a
disproportionate amount of management time. For example, in 2022, we determined to discontinue the lixivaptan program for the treatment of ADPKD,
the small molecule EGFR Exon20 insertion mutation inhibitor program, the C797S mutation inhibitor program for the treatment of NSCLC, ZF874
program for the treatment of AATD, and the dual-STAT3/5 degrader program in AML. Additionally, in December 2022, as a result of protocol defined
stopping criterion having been met, we suspended dosing in the multiple ascending dose (“MAD”) stage of the Phase 1 study of CBS001, a neutralizing
therapeutic mAD to the inflammatory membrane form of LIGHT for inflammatory / fibrotic diseases. We recently also determined to deprioritize and pause
all development activities for our CBS001 and CBS004 programs and terminated the MGX292 development program. We continue to evaluate strategic
partnerships to progress
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CBS001 and CBS004. We may not be able to terminate a clinical program with an ongoing clinical trial on medical and other grounds and, to the extent
we are able to terminate, such termination may expose us to additional risks including regulatory risk.

Risks Related to our Financial Position, Need for Additional Capital and Growth Strategy

We, and our Centessa Subsidiaries, have incurred net losses since inception, and we expect to continue to incur losses for the foreseeable
future and may never achieve or maintain profitability.

We and our Centessa Subsidiaries have incurred significant net losses since inception, have not generated any revenue from product sales to
date, and financed operations primarily through equity and debt financing. Centessa Pharmaceuticals plc has a limited operating history, and we expect
to incur significant losses for the foreseeable future. As an organization, we have devoted substantially all of our efforts to research and development,
including clinical and preclinical development of our product candidates, as well as to building out our team. We expect that it could be several years, if
ever, before we have a commercialized product candidate. We expect to continue to incur significant expenses and operating losses for the foreseeable
future. The net losses we incur may fluctuate significantly from quarter to quarter each financial year. In addition, inflation could adversely impact our
financial results. We anticipate that our expenses will increase substantially if, and as, we:

¢ continue our research and the preclinical and clinical development of our product candidates, including our ongoing and planned clinical
trials;

« initiate additional clinical trials and preclinical studies for our other product candidates, including those in our pipeline that are expected to
advance into the clinic in the near future; if any of our product candidates advance through and complete late-stage development, prepare
and submit marketing applications with the FDA and comparable regulatory authorities;

» experience any delays or encounter any issues with any of the above, including but not limited to failed studies, complex results, safety
issues or other regulatory challenges;

¢ seek to discover and develop additional product candidates;

* establish a sales, marketing and distribution infrastructure to commercialize any product candidates for which we may obtain marketing
approval;

e maintain, expand and protect our intellectual property portfolio;
< fulfill future potential payment obligations under our incentivization agreements with each Centessa Subsidiary; and

e acquire or in-license other product candidates and technologies.

To become and remain profitable, we must develop and eventually commercialize product candidates with significant market potential. This will
require us to be successful in a range of challenging activities, including completing preclinical testing and clinical trials of our product candidates,
obtaining marketing approval for these product candidates, manufacturing, marketing and selling those products for which we may obtain marketing
approval and satisfying any post-marketing requirements. We may never succeed in any or all of these activities and, even if we do, we may never
generate revenues that are significant or large enough to achieve profitability. If we do achieve profitability, we may not be able to sustain or increase
profitability on a quarterly or annual basis. Our failure to become and remain profitable would decrease the value of our company and could impair our
ability to raise capital, maintain our research and development efforts and expand our business or continue our operations. A decline in the value of our
company could cause you to lose all or part of your investment.

Our limited operating history may make it difficult for investors to evaluate our business, operations and prospects.

Our operations to date have been limited to organizing and staffing our company, business planning, developing our operating model, raising
capital, acquiring our technology, identifying potential product candidates, establishing collaborations and undertaking preclinical studies and clinical trials
of our most advanced product candidates. As an organization, we have not yet demonstrated a track record of completing Phase 3 trials of our product
candidates, obtaining marketing approvals, manufacturing a commercial-scale product or conducting sales and marketing activities necessary for
successful commercialization. Consequently, any predictions made about our future success or viability may not be as accurate as they could be if we
had a longer operating history.
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In addition, as a new business, we may encounter unforeseen expenses, difficulties, complications, delays and other known and unknown
factors. We will need to transition from a company with a research focus to a company that is also capable of supporting commercial activities. We may
not be successful in such a transition.

We have never generated revenue from product sales and may never be profitable.

Our ability to generate revenue from product sales and achieve profitability depends on our ability, alone or with collaborative partners, to
successfully complete the development of, and obtain the regulatory approvals necessary to commercialize, our product candidates. We do not anticipate
generating revenues from product sales for the next several years, if ever. Our ability to generate future revenues from product sales depends heavily on
our, or our collaborators’, success in:

« completing research and preclinical and clinical development of our product candidates;
» seeking and obtaining regulatory and marketing approvals for product candidates for which we complete clinical trials;
¢ in-licensing, acquiring, discovering or otherwise expanding our pipeline of product candidates for clinical development;

* launching and commercializing product candidates for which we obtain regulatory and marketing approval by establishing a sales force,
marketing and distribution infrastructure or, alternatively, collaborating with a commercialization partner;

« qualifying for adequate coverage and reimbursement by government and third-party payors for our product candidates;
¢ maintaining and enhancing a sustainable, scalable, reproducible and transferable manufacturing process for our product candidates;

» establishing and maintaining supply and manufacturing relationships with third parties that can provide adequate, in both amount and quality,
products and services to support clinical development and the market demand for our product candidates, if approved;

¢ obtaining market acceptance of our product candidates as a viable treatment option;
e addressing any competing technological and market developments;
¢ implementing additional internal systems and infrastructure, as needed;

* negotiating favorable terms in any collaboration, licensing or other arrangements into which we may enter and performing our obligations in
such collaborations;

e maintaining, protecting and expanding our portfolio of intellectual property rights, including patents, trade secrets and know-how;
» avoiding and defending against third-party interference or infringement claims; and

e attracting, hiring and retaining qualified personnel.

Even if one or more of the product candidates that we develop is approved for commercial sale, we anticipate incurring significant costs
associated with commercializing any approved product candidate. Our expenses could increase beyond expectations if we are required by the FDA, the
EMA, the MHRA, or other regulatory authorities to perform clinical and other studies in addition to those that we currently anticipate. Even if we are able to
generate revenues from the sale of any approved products, we may not become profitable and may need to obtain additional funding to continue
operations.

We will need substantial additional funds to advance development of our product candidates, and we cannot guarantee that we will have
sufficient funds available in the future to develop and commercialize our current or future product candidates.

Developing pharmaceutical products, including conducting preclinical studies and clinical trials, is a very time-consuming, expensive and
uncertain process that takes years to complete. We will need substantial additional funds to expand our development, regulatory, manufacturing,
marketing and sales capabilities or contract with other organizations in order to enter and advance our product candidates through preclinical studies and
clinical trials. For example, in October 2021 we entered into the Oberland Capital Financing Agreement (See Note 5 — “Debt” for more information). In
January 2023, we entered into an Open Market Sale Agreement (the “2023 Sale Agreement”) with Leerink, under which Leerink is able to offer and sell,
from time to time in “at-the-market” (“ATM”") offerings, shares of the Company’s common stock having aggregate
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gross proceeds of up to $125 million. In the event of a sale of Company shares under the ATM, t he Company is obligated to pay to Leerink cash
commissions of up to 3.0% of the gross proceeds of sales of common stock under the 2023 Sale Agreement. Our Centessa Subsidiaries have used
substantial funds in their research and development programs and will continue to expend significant resources to advance their programs and product
candidates.

As of September 30, 2023, we had $281.3 million in cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments. Based on our current operating
model and development plans, which include certain assumptions, the Company expects cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments to fund
its operations into 2026 without drawing on the remaining available tranches under the Oberland Capital financing agreement. Our future capital
requirements and the period for which we project our existing resources to support our operations may vary significantly from what we currently expect,
and changing circumstances, some of which may be beyond our control, could cause us to consume capital significantly faster than we currently
anticipate, and we may need to seek additional funds sooner than planned. Our monthly spending levels vary based on new and ongoing development
and corporate activities. Because the length of time and activities associated with successful development of our product candidates is highly uncertain,
we are unable to estimate the actual funds we will require for development and any approved marketing and commercialization activities.

We expect to use our cash resources to fund the continued development and pre-commercialization costs of our clinical-stage product
candidates; to fund continued development of the other programs in our pipeline, including designing and conducting preclinical studies and clinical trials,
as well as funding discovery, manufacturing, research and development; to fund the acquisition of and drug development activities related to new
programs; although we have no material agreements, commitments or understandings with respect to any in-license or acquisition, we have and plan to
continue to evaluate such opportunities and engage in related discussions with other business entities from time to time; and the remainder for working
capital and other general corporate purposes.

To execute our business plan, we will need, among other things, to:

e obtain the human and financial resources necessary to develop, test, obtain regulatory approval for, manufacture and market our product
candidates;

¢ build and maintain a strong intellectual property portfolio and avoid infringing intellectual property of third parties;
« establish and maintain successful licenses, collaborations and alliances;

e satisfy the requirements of clinical trial protocols, including patient enroliment;

« establish and demonstrate the clinical efficacy and safety of our product candidates;

«  obtain regulatory approvals;

* manage our spending as costs and expenses increase due to preclinical studies and clinical trials, regulatory approvals, commercialization,
legal and regulatory compliance, and increased operations;

» obtain additional capital to support and expand our operations; and

* market our products to achieve acceptance and use by the medical community in general.

We do not expect to realize revenue from product sales, milestone payments or royalties in the foreseeable future, if at all. Our revenue sources
are, and will remain, extremely limited unless and until our product candidates are clinically tested, approved for commercialization and successfully
marketed and/or we sell, out-license or otherwise divest certain of our assets.

We will be required to seek additional funding in the future and intend to do so through either public or private equity offerings or debt financings,
credit or loan facilities or a combination of one or more of these funding sources. Attempting to secure additional financing may divert management from
day-to-day activities, which may adversely affect our ability to develop our product candidates. Our ability to raise additional funds will depend on
financial, economic and other factors, many of which are beyond our control. Additional funds may not be available to us on acceptable terms or at all. If
we raise additional funds by issuing equity securities, our shareholders will suffer dilution and the terms of any financing may adversely affect the rights of
our shareholders. In addition, as a condition to providing additional funds to us, future investors may demand, and may be granted, rights superior to
those of existing shareholders. Debt financing, if available, may involve restrictive covenants limiting our flexibility in conducting future business activities,
and, in the event of insolvency, debt holders would be repaid before holders of equity securities received any distribution of corporate assets.
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If we raise additional funds through collaborations, strategic alliances or licensing arrangements with third parties, we may have to relinquish
valuable rights to our technologies, future revenue streams, research programs or product candidates or to grant licenses on terms that may not be
favorable to us. Certain amounts of such additional funds raised may need to be used to pay third parties in respect of obligations we owe to them
including to our licensors, under Incentivization Agreements (see Contractual Obligations and Other Commitments) and Oberland Capital. If we are
unable to raise additional funds through equity or debt financings when needed, we may be required to delay, reduce or terminate our product
development or future commercialization efforts or grant rights to third parties to develop and market product candidates that we would otherwise prefer to
develop and market ourselves.

Our credit facility and payment obligations under the Note Purchase Agreement, as amended (“NPA”), with Oberland Capital contain
operating and financial covenants that restrict our business and financing activities, are subject to acceleration in specified circumstances
and may adversely affect our financial position or results of operations and our ability to raise additional capital which in turn may increase
our vulnerability to adverse regulatory developments or economic or business downturns or which may result in Oberland Capital taking
possession of our assets and disposing of any collateral.

Our credit facility with Oberland Capital contains restrictions that limit our flexibility in operating our business. Under the terms of the credit facility,
we must maintain, and cause our subsidiaries to maintain, certain covenants, including with respect to limitations on new indebtedness, restrictions on the
payment of dividends and maintenance of revenue levels. Our credit facility is collateralized by all of our assets including, among other things, our
intellectual property.

Under the NPA, as amended, the Purchasers agreed to purchase, and the Company agreed to sell, tranches of secured notes in the aggregate
principal amount of up to $300,000,000 as follows: (a) a secured note in the aggregate principal amount of $75,000,000 (the “First Purchase Note"), (b) on
and after the Signing Date until September 30, 2024, at the Company’s option, a secured note in the aggregate principal amount of $75,000,000 (the
“Second Purchase Note”), (c) on and after the Signing Date until December 31, 2023, at the Company'’s option, a secured note in the aggregate principal
amount of $50,000,000 (the “Third Purchase Note"), and (d) one or more secured notes in the aggregate principal amount of up to $100,000,000 at any
time at the Company’s and Purchasers’ option, to be used to finance certain permitted acquisitions as described in the NPA (the “Fourth Purchase Notes”
and collectively with the First Purchase Note, the Second Purchase Note and the Third Purchase Note, the “Notes”). The obligations of the Purchasers to
purchase the Notes are subject to certain conditions precedent. On October 4, 2021 (the “First Purchase Date”), the Company issued the First Purchase
Note. The Notes will mature on the six-year anniversary of the First Purchase Date, unless earlier accelerated under the terms of the NPA. At maturity,
the Company must repay the outstanding principal amount of the Notes, together with any accrued and unpaid interest thereon and other outstanding
obligations thereunder. Interest is payable quarterly during the term of the Notes at a rate per annum equal to the sum of (a) the greater of (i) the Secured
Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”) (which may be subject to replacement as contemplated by the NPA) and (ii) 0.25% and (b) 7.75% (which percentage
is subject to adjustment as described in the NPA); provided that the interest rate shall never be less than 8.00%. The interest rate for the Notes at
September 30, 2023 was 13.26% per annum. Given the floating interest rate, the Company is subject to volatility and additional expense in the current
increasing interest rate environment. The Company’s obligations under the facility are secured by a first priority security interest in all assets of the
Company and Guarantors, subject to variation in accordance with local law with respect to assets held by the Company and the Guarantors outside of the
United States.

In addition, upon the first regulatory approval of any of the Company’s product candidates by either the FDA or EMA, the Company is obligated to
pay the Purchasers an amount equal to 30% of the aggregate principal amount issued under the Notes by the Company (the “Milestone Payment”). The
Milestone Payment shall be paid in quarterly installments over five years beginning on the earlier of (i) the date of the first commercial sale following such
regulatory approval; and (ii) the six month anniversary of such regulatory approval. The Milestone Payment is triggered one time only, and applies only to
the Company'’s first product to obtain regulatory approval.

The Company may redeem all, but not less than all, of the outstanding Notes (if any) and pay all other outstanding obligations under the NPA.
On the applicable date, the Company shall repurchase the Notes by paying an amount of up to (i) 175% of the principal amount issued under the Notes if
such repurchase occurs on or prior to the third anniversary of the First Purchase Date, (ii) 185% of the principal amount issued under the Notes if such
repurchase occurs between the third and sixth anniversaries of the First Purchase Date, and (iii) 205% of the principal amount issued under the Notes if
such repurchase occurs thereafter, in each case less specified deductions and exclusions described in the NPA, including amounts paid by the Company
to the Purchasers in respect of certain asset sale or strategic transactions, the interest payments, the Revenue Participation Payments and the Milestone
Payments (the “Final Payment Amount”).
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On February 11, 2022, we entered into an Amendment to Note Purchase Agreement and Waiver (“Amendment”). The Amendment contains a
waiver of certain events of default and associated penalty interests under the NPA. The Amendment also provides that the Company is required to
maintain a cash balance in an amount equal to 75% of the aggregate principal amount of all Notes, that have been issued on and from February 11,
2022. Also pursuant to the Amendment, the date for the Third Purchase Date to occur and the Commitment Termination Date are extended to December
31, 2023. The Amendment also provides that upon the sale of any of the Company’s or any of its subsidiary's assets, if the Purchaser Agent elects to
have the Company repurchase the Notes, such repurchase amounts will be subject to a $100 million deductible such that the Purchaser Agent will not
collect any repurchase amounts until $100 million has been received by the Company from such sale event. In addition, the reduced payment cap that is
triggered by the Purchaser Agent opting into a repayment in the event of an asset sale extends to the second loan tranche, if drawn.

In November 2022, we entered into a Second Amendment to Note Purchase Agreement (the “Second Amendment”) that, among other terms, (i)
waives the requirement to complete a restructuring of Pega-One or establish a blocked deposit account in favor of the Purchaser Agent, (ii) provides that
the Company is required to maintain a cash balance in an amount equal to 90% (increased from 75%) of the aggregate principal amount of all Notes, and
(iii) upon the sale of the assets of any of PearlRiver Bio, Pega-One or Janpix, the Purchaser Agent shall be deemed to have exercised the right to have
the Company repurchase the Notes, and any contingent amounts from such asset sales shall not be counted toward the $100 million deductible such
that the Purchaser Agent will not collect any repurchase amounts until $100 million has been actually received by the Company from such sale events.
We divested PearlRiver in December 2022 and Pega-One in January 2023. In July 2023, we entered into a Consent, Release and Amendment to Note
Purchase Agreement pursuant to which the Purchaser Agent consented to the Company undertaking a reorganization of its UK group and agreed to
release its security interest over certain assets.

If we breach certain of our debt covenants and are unable to cure such breach within the prescribed period, or are not granted waivers in relation
to such breach, it may constitute an event of default under the credit facility, giving Oberland Capital the right to require us to repay the then outstanding
debt immediately, and Oberland Capital could, among other things, foreclose on the collateral granted to them to collateralize such indebtedness, if we
are unable to pay the outstanding debt immediately. A breach of the covenants contained in the credit facility documents and the acceleration of its
repayment obligations by Oberland Capital could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

The credit facility and the Revenue Participation Payments and Milestone Payments contained therein could have important negative
consequences to the holders of our securities. For example, a portion of our cash flow from operations will be needed to make payments to Oberland
Capital and will not be available to fund future operations. Additionally, we may have increased vulnerability to adverse general economic and industry
conditions. Payment requirements under the credit facility will increase our cash outflows if and when the conditions for payment are triggered. Our future
operating performance is subject to market conditions and business factors that are beyond our control. If our cash inflows and capital resources are
insufficient to allow us to make required payments, we may have to reduce or delay capital expenditures, sell assets or seek additional capital. If we raise
funds by selling additional equity, such sale would result in dilution to our stockholders. There is no assurance that if we are required to secure funding,
we can do so on terms acceptable to us, or at all.

If we engage in acquisitions or strategic partnerships, this may increase our capital requirements, dilute our shareholders, cause us to incur
debt or assume contingent liabilities, and subject us to other risks.

We may engage in various acquisitions and strategic partnerships in the future, including licensing or acquiring new or complementary products,
intellectual property rights, technologies, or businesses. Any acquisition or strategic partnership may entail numerous risks, including:

¢ increased operating expenses and cash requirements;
» the assumption of indebtedness or contingent liabilities;
» the issuance of our equity securities which would result in dilution to our shareholders;

» assimilation of operations, intellectual property, products and product candidates of an acquired company, including difficulties associated
with integrating new personnel;

» the diversion of our management’s attention from our existing product programs and initiatives in pursuing such an acquisition or strategic
partnership;
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« retention of key employees, the loss of key personnel, and uncertainties in our ability to maintain key business relationships;

¢ risks and uncertainties associated with the other party to such a transaction, including the prospects of that party and their existing products
or product candidates and regulatory approvals; and

e our inability to generate revenue from acquired intellectual property, technology and/or products sufficient to meet our objectives or even to
offset the associated transaction and maintenance costs; and

e our assumption of liabilities of the acquired subsidiary or acquired assets.

In addition, if we undertake such a transaction, we may issue dilutive securities, assume or incur debt obligations, incur large one-time expenses
and acquire intangible assets that could result in significant future amortization expense.

If we acquire additional assets and/or companies in the future, it could adversely affect our operating results and the value of our ADSs.

As part of our asset-centric business model and strategy, we may acquire additional assets and/or companies. Investments in our existing and
any future subsidiaries and developmental assets involve numerous risks, including, but not necessarily limited to:

» risk of conducting research and development activities in new therapeutic areas or treatment modalities in which we have little to no
experience;

« diversion of financial and managerial resources from existing operations;

e successfully negotiating a proposed acquisition, in-license or investment in a timely manner and at a price or on terms and conditions
favorable to us;

« successfully combining and integrating a potential acquisition into our existing business to fully realize the benefits of such acquisition;
« the impact of regulatory reviews on a proposed acquisition, in-license or investment; and

« the assumption of liabilities of acquired subsidiaries and outcome of any legal proceedings that may be instituted with respect to the
proposed acquisition, in-license or investment.

If we fail to properly evaluate potential acquisitions, in-licenses, investments or other transactions associated with the creation of new research
and development programs or the maintenance of existing ones, we might not achieve the anticipated benefits of any such transaction, we might incur
costs in excess of what we anticipate, and management resources and attention might be diverted from other necessary or valuable activities.

Risks Related to Our Business and the Clinical Development, Regulatory Review and Approval

Our product candidates are in various stages of development, including several in discovery and preclinical stages, and may fail in
development or suffer delays that materially adversely affect their commercial viability.

We have no products on the market and most of the product candidates in our pipeline are in the early stages of development. For example,
across our organization, we currently have two product candidates that are in clinical development— SerpinPC and LB101. The remainder of our
programs are in discovery or IND-enabling phases. Our ability to achieve and sustain profitability depends on obtaining regulatory approvals for, and
successfully commercializing, our product candidates, either alone or with third parties. Before obtaining regulatory approval for the commercial
distribution of our product candidates, we or a collaborator must conduct extensive preclinical tests and clinical trials to demonstrate the safety and
efficacy of our drug product candidates and the safety, purity, and potency or efficacy, of our biologic product candidates. Preclinical testing and clinical
trials are expensive, difficult to design and implement, can take many years to complete and are uncertain as to outcome. The start or end of a clinical
study is often delayed or halted due to changing regulatory requirements, manufacturing challenges, required clinical trial administrative actions, slower
than anticipated patient enroliment, changing standards of care, availability or prevalence of use of a comparative drug or required prior therapy, clinical
outcomes or financial constraints. For instance, delays or difficulties in patient enrollment or difficulties in retaining trial participants can result in increased
costs, longer development times or termination of a clinical trial. Clinical trials of a new product candidate require the enrollment of a sufficient number of
patients, including patients who are suffering from the disease the product candidate is intended to treat and who meet other eligibility criteria. Rates of
patient enroliment are affected by many factors, including the size of the patient population, the eligibility criteria for the clinical trial, the age and condition
of the patients, the
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stage and severity of disease, the nature of the protocol, the proximity of patients to clinical sites and the availability of effective treatments for the
relevant disease.

A product candidate can unexpectedly fail at any stage of preclinical and clinical development. For example, in 2022, we chose to discontinue the
lixivaptan program for the treatment of ADPKD, the small molecule EGFR Exon20 insertion mutation inhibitor program, the C797S mutation inhibitor
program for the treatment of NSCLC, ZF874 program for the treatment of AATD, and the dual-STAT3/5 degrader program in AM L. Additionally, in
December 2022, as a result of protocol defined stopping criterion having been met, we suspended dosing in the multiple ascending dose (MAD) stage of
the Phase 1 study of CBS001. In the first half of 2023, we determined to deprioritize CBS001, CBS004 and MGX292 and paused all associated
development activities. We continue to evaluate strategic partnerships to progress CBS001 and CBS004 and have terminated MGX292. The historical
failure rate for product candidates is high due to scientific feasibility, safety, efficacy, changing standards of medical care and other variables. The results
from preclinical testing or early clinical trials of a product candidate may not predict the results that will be obtained in later phase clinical trials of the
product candidate. We, the FDA or other applicable regulatory authorities may suspend clinical trials of a product candidate at any time for various
reasons, including a belief that subjects participating in such trials are being exposed to unacceptable health risks or adverse side effects. We may not
have the financial resources to continue development of, or to enter into collaborations for, a product candidate if we experience any problems or other
unforeseen events that delay or prevent regulatory approval of, or our ability to commercialize, product candidates, including:

¢ negative or inconclusive results from our clinical trials or the clinical trials of others for product candidates similar to ours, leading to a
decision or requirement to conduct additional preclinical testing or clinical trials or abandon a program;

« serious and unexpected drug-related side effects experienced by participants in our clinical trials or by individuals using drugs similar to our
product candidates;

» delays in submitting Investigational New Drug applications (“INDs”), Clinical Trial Applications (“CTAs"), or comparable foreign applications
or delays or failure in obtaining the necessary approvals from regulators to commence a clinical trial, or a suspension or termination of a
clinical trial once commenced;

« conditions imposed by the FDA or comparable foreign authorities regarding the scope or design of our clinical trials;

« delays in enrolling or our inability to enroll research subjects in clinical trials;

¢ high drop-out rates of research subjects;

* inadequate supply or quality of product candidate components or materials or other supplies necessary for the conduct of our clinical trials;
» greater than anticipated clinical trial costs;

» poor effectiveness of our product candidates during clinical trials;

* unfavorable FDA or other regulatory agency inspection and review of a clinical trial site;

» failure of our third-party contractors or investigators to comply with regulatory requirements or otherwise meet their contractual obligations in
a timely manner, or at all;

« delays and changes in regulatory requirements, policy and guidelines, including the imposition of additional regulatory oversight around
clinical testing generally or with respect to our technology in particular; or

¢ varying interpretations of data by the FDA and similar foreign regulatory agencies.

Some of the clinical trials performed to date were, and in the future we may conduct, open-label studies involving only a limited number of clinical
sites and a limited number of patients. An “open-label” clinical trial is one where both the patient and investigator know whether the patient is receiving
the investigational product candidate or either an existing approved drug or placebo. Most typically, open-label clinical trials test only the investigational
product candidate and sometimes may do so at different dose levels. Open-label clinical trials are subject to various limitations that may exaggerate any
therapeutic effect as patients in open-label clinical trials are aware when they are receiving treatment. Open-label clinical trials may be subject to a
“patient bias” where patients perceive their symptoms to have improved merely due to their awareness of receiving an experimental treatment. Moreover,
patients selected for early clinical studies often include the most severe sufferers and their symptoms may have been bound to improve notwithstanding
the new treatment. In addition, open-label clinical trials may be subject to an “investigator bias” where those assessing and reviewing the physiological
outcomes of the clinical trials are aware of which patients have received treatment and may interpret the information of the treated group more favorably
given this
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knowledge. The results from an open-label trial may not be predictive of future clinical trial results with any of our product candidates for which we include
an open-label clinical trial when studied in a controlled environment with a placebo or active control. Given that our development program for SerpinPC
has included open-label clinical trials, the results from these clinical trials, and any future open-label studies, may not be predictive of future clinical trial
results with this or other product candidates when studied in a controlled environment with a placebo or active control.

We may not be successful in our efforts to identify, discover, in-license or otherwise acquire additional product candidates and may fail to
capitalize on programs or product candidates that may be a greater commercial opportunity or for which there is a greater likelihood of
success.

The success of our business depends upon our ability to identify, develop and commercialize product candidates. Research programs to identify
new product candidates require substantial technical, financial and human resources. Although certain of our product candidates are currently in clinical
or preclinical development, we may fail to identify other potential product candidates for clinical development for several reasons. For example, our
research may be unsuccessful in identifying potential product candidates or our potential product candidates may be shown to have harmful side effects,
may be commercially impracticable to manufacture or may have other characteristics that may make the products unmarketable or unlikely to receive
marketing approval.

Additionally, because we have limited resources, we may forego or delay pursuit of opportunities with certain programs or product candidates or
for indications that later prove to have greater commercial potential. Our spending on current and future research and development programs may not
yield any commercially viable products. If we do not accurately evaluate the commercial potential for a particular product candidate, we may relinquish
valuable rights to that product candidate through strategic collaboration, licensing or other arrangements in cases in which it would have been more
advantageous for us to retain sole development and commercialization rights to such product candidate. Alternatively, we may allocate internal resources
to a product candidate in a therapeutic area in which it would have been more advantageous to enter into a partnering arrangement.

If any of these events occur, we may be forced to abandon our development efforts with respect to a particular product candidate or fail to
develop a potentially successful product candidate, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations
and prospects.

Success in preclinical studies or early clinical trials may not be indicative of results obtained in later trials.

Results from preclinical studies or previous clinical trials are not necessarily predictive of future clinical trial results, and interim results of a
clinical trial are not necessarily indicative of final results. The results generated to date in preclinical studies or clinical trials for our product candidates do
not ensure that later preclinical studies or clinical trials will demonstrate similar results. Our product candidates may fail to show the desired safety and
efficacy in clinical development despite demonstrating positive results in preclinical studies or having successfully advanced through initial clinical trials.
Product candidates in later stages of clinical trials may fail to show the desired safety and efficacy traits despite having progressed through preclinical and
earlier stage clinical trials. In later-stage clinical trials, we will likely be subject to more rigorous statistical analyses than in completed earlier stage clinical
trials. In some instances, there can be significant variability in safety or efficacy results between different clinical trials of the same product candidate due
to numerous factors, including changes in clinical trial procedures set forth in protocols, differences in the size and type of the patient populations,
adherence to the dosing regimen and other clinical trial protocols, and the rate of dropout among clinical trial participants. We cannot guarantee that any
of our clinical trials will be conducted as planned or completed on schedule, or at all. Clinical trials can fail at any stage of testing and failure may result
from a multitude of factors, including, among other things, flaws in study design, dose selection issues, placebo effects, patient enrollment criteria and
failure to demonstrate favorable safety or efficacy traits.

There is a high failure rate for small molecule drugs and biologic products proceeding through clinical development. Many companies in the
pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries have suffered significant setbacks in late-stage clinical trials even after achieving promising results in
preclinical testing and earlier-stage clinical trials. Data obtained from preclinical and clinical activities are subject to varying interpretations, which may
delay, limit or prevent regulatory approval, and many companies that have believed their product candidates performed satisfactorily in preclinical studies
and clinical trials have nonetheless failed to obtain marketing approval of their products. In addition, we may experience regulatory delays or rejections as
a result of many factors, including due to changes in regulatory policy during the period of our product candidate development. Furthermore, the failure of
any of our product candidates to demonstrate safety and efficacy in any clinical trial could negatively impact the perception of our other product
candidates and/or cause the FDA or other regulatory authorities to
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require additional testing before approving any of our product candidates. Any such delays could materially and adversely affect our business, financial
condition, results of operations and prospects.

We may encounter substantial delays or challenges in the initiation, conduct or completion of our clinical trials, and the results of clinical
development are uncertain.

Before obtaining marketing approval from regulatory authorities for the sale of our product candidates, we must conduct extensive clinical trials to
demonstrate the safety and efficacy of the product candidate for its intended indications. Clinical trials are expensive, time-consuming and uncertain as to
outcome. We cannot guarantee that any clinical trials will be conducted as planned or completed on schedule, if at all. A failure of one or more clinical
trials can occur at any stage of testing. Events that may prevent successful or timely completion of clinical development include:

¢ delay in completing preclinical studies;
« delays in reaching a consensus with regulatory authorities on trial design;
¢ delays in obtaining authorizations of INDs to commence a clinical trial;

« delays in reaching agreement or failing to agree on acceptable terms with prospective CROs, and clinical trial sites, the terms of which can
be subject to extensive negotiation and may vary significantly among different CROs and clinical trial sites;

« delays in obtaining or failure to obtain Institutional Review Board (“IRB"), or independent ethics committee approval at each clinical trial site;

e delays in opening or failure to open a sufficient number of clinical trial sites and recruiting an adequate number of suitable patients to
participate in our clinical trials;

» imposition of a clinical hold by regulatory authorities as a result of a serious adverse event, concerns with a class of product candidates or
after an inspection of our clinical trial operations or trial sites;

» delays in having patients complete participation in a trial or return for post-treatment follow-up;

¢ occurrence of clinical trial sites deviating from clinical trial protocol or dropping out of a clinical trial;

»  obtaining sufficient product supply of product candidate for use in preclinical studies or clinical trials from third-party suppliers;

¢ occurrence of serious adverse events associated with the product candidate that are viewed to outweigh its potential benefits;

» changes in regulatory requirements and guidance that require amending or submitting new clinical protocols; or

¢ macro factors such as the ongoing Russia-Ukraine war, the Israeli-Palestinian conflict and tensions in US-China relations.

Any inability to successfully complete preclinical and clinical development could result in additional costs to us or impair our ability to generate
revenue from future drug sales and regulatory and commercialization milestones. In addition, if we make manufacturing or formulation changes to our
product candidates, we may need to conduct additional testing to bridge our modified product candidate to earlier versions. Clinical trial delays could also
shorten any periods during which we may have the exclusive right to commercialize our product candidates, if approved, or allow our competitors to bring

comparable drugs to market before we do, which could impair our ability to successfully commercialize our product candidates and may harm our
business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

Additionally, if the results of our clinical trials are inconclusive or if there are safety concerns or serious adverse events associated with our
product candidates, we may:

* be delayed in obtaining marketing approval, if at all;

» obtain approval for indications or patient populations that are not as broad as intended or desired;

« obtain approval with labeling that includes significant use or distribution restrictions or safety warnings;

* be subject to additional post-marketing testing requirements;

* be required to perform additional clinical trials to support approval or be subject to additional post-marketing testing requirements;
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* have regulatory authorities withdraw, or suspend, their approval of the drug or impose restrictions on its distribution in the form of a modified
risk evaluation and mitigation strategy (“REMS”) plan;

* be subject to the addition of labeling statements, such as warnings or contraindications;
*  be sued; or

* experience damage to our reputation.

Our drug development costs will also increase if we experience delays in testing or obtaining marketing approvals. We do not know whether any
of our preclinical studies or clinical trials will begin as planned, need to be restructured or be completed on schedule, if at all.

Further, we, the FDA or other regulatory authorities, or an IRB or ethics committee of the institutions in which our clinical trials are being
conducted, or the Data Safety Monitoring Board for such trials, if any, may suspend or terminate our clinical trials. Such authorities may suspend or
terminate a clinical trial at any time due to a number of factors, including if it appears that we or our collaborators are failing to conduct a trial in
accordance with regulatory requirements, including the FDA's current Good Clinical Practice (“GCP”), regulations, unforeseen safety issues or
unacceptable health risks, failure to demonstrate a benefit from the product candidates, or if the FDA finds deficiencies in our INDs or the conduct of
these trials. Therefore, we cannot predict with any certainty the schedule for commencement and completion of future clinical trials. If we experience
delays in the commencement or completion of our clinical trials, or if we terminate a clinical trial prior to completion, the commercial prospects of our
product candidates could be negatively impacted, and our ability to generate revenues from our product candidates may be delayed or eliminated entirely.

Even if we complete the necessary preclinical studies and clinical trials, the marketing approval process is expensive, time-consuming and
uncertain and may prevent us from obtaining approvals for the commercialization of our product candidates.

Any product candidate we develop and the activities associated with its development and commercialization, including its design, testing,
manufacture, safety, efficacy, recordkeeping, labeling, storage, approval, advertising, promotion, sale, and distribution, are subject to comprehensive
regulation by the FDA and other regulatory authorities in the United States and by comparable authorities in other countries. Failure to obtain marketing
approval for a product candidate will prevent us from commercializing the product candidate in a given jurisdiction. We have not received approval to
market any product candidates from regulatory authorities in any jurisdiction and it is possible that none of the product candidates we are developing or
may seek to develop in the future will ever obtain regulatory approval. We have no experience in submitting and supporting the applications necessary to
gain marketing approvals and expect to rely on third-party CROs or regulatory consultants to assist us in this process. Securing regulatory approval
requires the submission of extensive preclinical and clinical data and supporting information to the various regulatory authorities for each therapeutic
indication to establish the product candidate’s safety and efficacy. Securing regulatory approval also requires the submission of information about the
product manufacturing process to, and inspection of manufacturing facilities by, the relevant regulatory authority. Any product candidates we develop may
not be effective, may be only moderately effective, or may prove to have undesirable or unintended side effects, toxicities or other characteristics that may
preclude its obtaining marketing approval or prevent or limit commercial use.

The process of obtaining marketing approvals is expensive, may take many years if additional clinical trials are required, if approval is obtained at
all, and can vary substantially based upon a variety of factors, including the type, complexity, and novelty of the product candidates involved. Changes in
marketing approval policies during the development period, changes in or the enactment of additional statutes or regulations, or changes in regulatory
review for each submitted product application, may cause delays in the approval or rejection of an application. The FDA and comparable authorities in
other countries have substantial discretion in the approval process and may refuse to accept any application or may decide that our data are insufficient
for approval and require additional preclinical, clinical or other studies. This is particularly true for clinical trials in rare diseases, where the very small
patient population makes it difficult or impossible to conduct traditional, adequate and well-controlled studies, and therefore the FDA or comparable
foreign regulatory authorities are often required to exercise flexibility in approving therapies for such diseases. To the extent that the results of the trials
are not satisfactory to the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities for support of a marketing application, we may be required to expend
significant resources, which may not be available to us, to conduct additional trials in support of potential approval of our product candidates. In addition,
varying interpretations of the data obtained from preclinical and clinical testing could delay, limit, or prevent marketing approval of a product candidate.
Any marketing approval that we may ultimately obtain could be limited or subject to restrictions or post-approval commitments that render the approved
product not commercially viable.
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If we experience delays in obtaining approval or if we fail to obtain approval of any product candidates we may develop, the commercial
prospects for those product candidates may be harmed, and our ability to generate revenues may be materially impaired.

We may find it difficult to enroll patients in our clinical trials, which could delay or prevent us from proceeding with clinical trials of our
product candidates.

Identifying and qualifying patients to participate in clinical trials of our product candidates is critical to our success. The timing of our clinical trials
depends on our ability to recruit patients to participate in such trials as well as the completion of any required follow-up periods. Some of our product
candidates are designed to target orphan indications. For example, SerpinPC is being developed for the treatment of hemophilia. Trials in orphan
indications often take longer to enroll than trials for other indications due to the smaller patient population from which subjects can be recruited. We may
experience delays in any of our future clinical trials. If patients are unwilling to participate in our studies because of negative publicity from adverse
events related to certain modalities utilized in one or more of our product candidates, competitive clinical trials for similar patient populations or for other
reasons, the timeline for recruiting patients, conducting studies and obtaining regulatory approval of our product candidates may be delayed. delays could
result in increased costs, delays in advancing our product candidates, delays in testing the effectiveness of our product candidates or termination of the
clinical trials altogether.

We may not be able to identify, recruit and enroll a sufficient number of patients, or those with required or desired characteristics, to complete our
clinical trials in a timely manner. Patient enroliment and trial completion is affected by factors including:

* size of the patient population and process for identifying subjects;

« design of the trial protocol;

» eligibility and exclusion criteria;

e perceived risks and benefits of the product candidate under study;

« perceived risks and benefits of approaches utilized by one or more of our product candidates to treatment of diseases;

* availability of competing therapies and clinical trials;

¢ severity of the disease under investigation;

«  proximity and availability of clinical trial sites for prospective subjects;

e ability to recruit clinical trial investigators with the appropriate competencies and experience;

» ability to obtain and maintain subject consent;

« risk that enrolled subjects will drop out before completion of the trial;

» patient referral practices of physicians;

«  ability to monitor subjects adequately during and after treatment; and

« factors we may not be able to control, such as current or potential pandemics that may limit patients, principal investigators or staff or clinical

site availability and geopolitical conflicts such as the Russia-Ukraine war, the Israeli-Palestinian conflict and tensions in US-China relations.

We plan to seek initial marketing approval in the United States and certain other major markets such as major countries in the EU, and the United
Kingdom. We may not be able to initiate or continue clinical trials if we cannot enroll a sufficient number of eligible patients to participate in the clinical
trials required by FDA, EMA, MHRA or other regulatory authorities. Our ability to successfully initiate, enroll and complete a clinical trial in any foreign
country is subject to numerous risks unique to conducting business in foreign countries, including:

« difficulty in establishing or managing relationships with CROs, and physicians;
» difficulty in obtaining local regulatory approval to conduct clinical trials;
» different standards for the conduct of clinical trials;

¢ ourinability to locate qualified local consultants, physicians and partners; and
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« the potential burden of complying with a variety of foreign laws, medical standards and regulatory requirements, including the regulation of
pharmaceutical and biotechnology products and treatment.

If we have difficulty enrolling a sufficient number of patients to conduct our clinical trials as planned, we may need to delay, limit or terminate
ongoing or planned clinical trials, any of which would have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

We are dependent on third parties having accurately generated, collected, interpreted and reported data from certain preclinical studies and
clinical trials that were previously conducted for our product candidates.

We have licensed patent and other intellectual property rights from third parties and we may continue to seek and enter into similar licenses for
future programs. In certain cases, we intend to rely on results of studies previously conducted by third parties to support our own development of these
candidates. In such cases, we may have no involvement with or control over the preclinical and clinical development of any of such product candidates
prior to obtaining the in-license. Therefore, we would be dependent on these third parties having conducted their research and development in
accordance with the applicable protocols, legal and regulatory requirements, and scientific standards; having accurately reported the results of all
preclinical studies and clinical trials conducted with respect to such product candidates and having correctly collected and interpreted the data from these
studies and trials. If these activities were not compliant, accurate or correct, the clinical development, regulatory approval or commercialization of our
product candidates will be adversely affected.

We may be unable to obtain U.S. or foreign regulatory approval and, as a result, unable to commercialize our product candidates.

Our product candidates are subject to extensive governmental regulations relating to, among other things, research, testing, development,
manufacturing, safety, efficacy, approval, recordkeeping, reporting, labeling, storage, packaging, advertising and promotion, pricing, marketing and
distribution of drugs. Rigorous preclinical testing and clinical trials and an extensive regulatory approval process are required to be successfully
completed in the U.S. and in many foreign jurisdictions before a new drug can be marketed. Satisfaction of these and other regulatory requirements is
costly, time consuming, uncertain and subject to unanticipated delays. It is possible that none of the product candidates we may develop will obtain the
regulatory approvals necessary for us or our collaborators to begin selling them. Regulatory authorities may also fail to approve the facilities or processes
used to manufacture a product candidate, our dosing or delivery methods.

We have very limited experience in conducting and managing the clinical trials necessary to obtain regulatory approvals, including approval by
the FDA. The time required to obtain FDA and other approvals is unpredictable but typically takes many years following the commencement of clinical
trials, depending upon the type, complexity and novelty of the product candidate. The standards that the FDA and its foreign counterparts use when
regulating us are not always applied predictably or uniformly and can change. Any analysis we perform on data from preclinical and clinical activities is
subject to confirmation and interpretation by regulatory authorities, which could delay, limit or prevent regulatory approval. We may also encounter
unexpected delays or increased costs due to new government regulations, for example, from future legislation or administrative action, or from changes
in FDA policy during the period of product development, clinical trials and FDA regulatory review. It is impossible to predict whether legislative changes
will be enacted, or whether FDA or foreign regulations, guidance or interpretations will be changed, or what the impact of such changes, if any, may be.

In certain cases in the future, we may develop therapies that may represent a new class of drug for which the FDA and its foreign counterparts
have not yet established any definitive policies, practices or guidelines in relation to these drugs. For example, we may in the future develop product
candidates that we believe are regulated as new drugs under the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, but the FDA could decide to regulate them or
other products we may develop as biologics under the Public Health Service Act. The lack of policies, practices or guidelines may hinder or slow review
by the FDA of any regulatory filings that we may submit. Moreover, the FDA may respond to these submissions by defining requirements we may not
have anticipated. Such responses could lead to significant delays in the clinical development of our product candidates. In addition, because there may
be approved treatments for some of the diseases for which we may seek approval, in order to receive regulatory approval, we may need to demonstrate
through clinical trials that the product candidates we develop to treat these diseases, if any, are not only safe and effective, but safer or more effective
than existing products.

Any delay or failure in obtaining required approvals could have a material adverse effect on our ability to generate revenues from the particular
product candidate for which we are seeking approval. Furthermore, any regulatory approval to market a product may be subject to limitations on the
approved uses for which we may market the product or the labeling or other restrictions. In addition, the FDA has the authority to require a REMS plan as
part of a new drug application (“NDA”), or
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biologics license application (“BLA”), or after approval, which may impose further requirements or restrictions on the distribution or use of an approved
drug or biologic, such as limiting prescribing to certain physicians or medical centers that have undergone specialized training, limiting treatment to
patients who meet certain safe-use criteria and requiring treated patients to enroll in a registry. These limitations and restrictions may limit the size of the
market for the product and affect reimbursement by third-party payors.

We are also subject to numerous foreign regulatory requirements governing, among other things, the conduct of clinical trials, manufacturing and
marketing authorization, pricing and third-party reimbursement. The foreign regulatory approval process varies among countries and may include all of
the risks associated with FDA approval described above as well as risks attributable to the satisfaction of local regulations in foreign jurisdictions.
Moreover, the time required to obtain approval may differ from that required to obtain FDA approval. Approval by the FDA does not ensure approval by
regulatory authorities outside the U.S. and vice versa.

Interim, “top-line,” and preliminary data from our clinical trials that we announce or publish from time to time may change as more patient data
become available or as additional analyses are conducted, and as the data are subject to audit and verification procedures, there could be
material changes in the final data.

From time to time, we may publish interim, “top-line,” or preliminary data from our clinical studies. Interim data from clinical trials that we may
complete are subject to the risk that one or more of the clinical outcomes may materially change as patient enroliment continues and more patient data
become available. Preliminary or “top-line” data also remain subject to audit and verification procedures that may result in the final data being materially
different from the preliminary data we previously published. As a result, interim and preliminary data should be viewed with caution until the final data are
available. Material adverse changes between preliminary, “top-line,” or interim data and final data could significantly harm our business prospects.

We may be unable to obtain orphan drug designation or exclusivity. If our competitors are able to obtain orphan drug exclusivity for products
that constitute the same drug and treat the same indications as our product candidates, we may not be able to have competing products
approved by the applicable regulatory authority for a significant period of time.

We have received orphan drug designation for SerpinPC in the United States and may in the future seek orphan drug designation for certain of
our other product candidates, but we may be unable to maintain orphan drug designation or obtain any benefits associated with orphan drug designation,
including market exclusivity. Regulatory authorities in some jurisdictions, including the United States and the European Union, may designate drugs and
biologics intended to treat relatively small patient populations as orphan drugs. Under the Orphan Drug Act of 1983, FDA may designate a product
candidate as an orphan drug if it is intended to treat a rare disease or condition, which is defined as a disease or condition having a patient population of
fewer than 200,000 individuals in the United States, or a patient population greater than 200,000 in the United States where there is no reasonable
expectation that the cost of developing the drug will be recovered from sales in the United States. In the EU, the European Commission, after
recommendation from the EMA's Committee for Orphan Medicinal Products, grants orphan designation in respect of products that are intended for the
diagnosis, prevention or treatment of a life-threatening or chronically debilitating condition which either affects not more than 5 in 10,000 persons in the
EU when the application for orphan designation is made, or products intended for the diagnosis, prevention or treatment of a life-threatening, seriously
debilitating or serious and chronic condition when, without incentives, it is unlikely that sales of the product in the EU would be sufficient to justify the
necessary investment in developing the product. In each case, there must be no satisfactory method of diagnosis, prevention or treatment which is
authorized for marketing in the EU, or, if such a method exists, the product would be of significant benefit to those affected by the condition.

Certain of our current product candidates, and our future potential product candidates may target patient populations that are smaller than the
numbers described above. If we request orphan drug designation for our product candidates, there can be no assurances that FDA or the European
Commission will grant any of our product candidates such designation. Additionally, the designation of any of our product candidates as an orphan
product does not guarantee that any regulatory agency will accelerate regulatory review of, or ultimately approve, that product candidate, nor does it limit
the ability of any regulatory agency to grant orphan drug designation to product candidates of other companies that treat the same indications as our
product candidates prior to our product candidates receiving exclusive marketing approval.

Generally, if a product candidate with an orphan drug designation receives the first marketing approval for the indication for which it has such
designation, the product is entitled to a period of marketing exclusivity, which precludes the FDA or the European Commission from approving another
marketing application for a product that constitutes the same drug treating the same indication for that marketing exclusivity period, except in limited
circumstances. If another sponsor receives such approval before we do (regardless of our orphan drug designation), we will be precluded from receiving
marketing
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approval for our product for the applicable exclusivity period. The applicable period is seven years in the United States and 10 years in the European
Union. The exclusivity period in the United States can be extended by six months if the sponsor submits pediatric data that fairly respond to a written
request from the FDA for such data. The exclusivity period in the European Union can be reduced to six years if a product no longer meets the criteria for
orphan drug designation or if the product is sufficiently profitable so that market exclusivity is no longer justified. Recently, legislation has been proposed
by the European Commission that, if implemented, has the potential to shorten the ten-year period of orphan marketing exclusivity in additional
scenarios. Orphan drug exclusivity may be revoked if any regulatory agency determines that the request for designation was materially defective or if the
manufacturer is unable to assure sufficient quantity of the product to meet the needs of patients with the rare disease or condition.

Even if we obtain orphan drug exclusivity for a product candidate, that exclusivity may not effectively protect the product candidate from
competition because different drugs can be approved for the same condition. In the United States, even after an orphan drug is approved, the FDA may
subsequently approve another drug for the same condition if the FDA concludes that the latter drug is not the same drug or is clinically superior in that it
is shown to be safer, more effective or makes a major contribution to patient care. In the EU, marketing authorization may be granted to a similar
medicinal product for the same orphan indication if:

« the second applicant can establish in its application that its medicinal product, although similar to the orphan medicinal product already
authorized, is safer, more effective or otherwise clinically superior;

¢ the holder of the marketing authorization for the original orphan medicinal product consents to a second orphan medicinal product
application; or

» the holder of the marketing authorization for the original orphan medicinal product cannot supply sufficient quantities of orphan medicinal
product.

We face significant competition in an environment of rapid technological change and the possibility that our competitors may achieve
regulatory approval before us or develop therapies that are more advanced or effective than ours, which may adversely affect our ability to
successfully market or commercialize our product candidates and our financial condition.

The biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries are characterized by rapidly changing technologies, significant competition and a strong
emphasis on intellectual property. We face substantial competition from many different sources, including large and specialty pharmaceutical and
biotechnology companies, academic research institutions, government agencies and public and private research institutions. In addition, we face
competition from other companies that have adopted business models that are similar to ours in which they establish strategic alliances, create joint
ventures or collaborations, or enter into licensing arrangements with third parties for programs, product candidates, technologies or intellectual property.
We may not be able to compete effectively with such companies. See “—We may not be successful in our efforts to use our differentiated asset-centric
approach to drug discovery and development to build a pipeline of product candidates with commercial value.”

For example, for our clinical-stage product candidates, our main competitors include:

* For SerpinPC, approved treatments include recombinant factor replacement therapies, emicizumab for HA, and newly approved gene
therapies for both HB and HA. Alternative approaches are in development to reduce the efficiency of natural anticoagulant mechanisms.
Additional gene therapies for HA and HB are being developed by various sponsors.

* For LB101, there are many products in development for solid tumors, several of which target CD-47 with or without concomitant PD-L1
dosing. In addition, there are several bi-specific PD-L1xCD47 programs.

Many of our potential competitors, alone or with their strategic partners, may have substantially greater financial, technical and other resources,
such as larger research and development, clinical, marketing and manufacturing organizations. Mergers and acquisitions in the biotechnology and
pharmaceutical industries may result in even more resources being concentrated among a smaller number of competitors. Our commercial opportunity
could be reduced or eliminated if competitors develop and commercialize products that are safer, more effective, have fewer or less severe side effects,
are more convenient or are less expensive than any products that we may develop. Competitors also may obtain FDA or other regulatory approval for
their products more rapidly or earlier than we may obtain approval for ours, which could result in our product being prevented from being marketed for
significant periods (for example, where our competitor has secured regulatory exclusivity) or our competitors establishing a strong market position before
we are able to enter the market. Additionally,
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technologies developed by our competitors may render our potential product candidates uneconomical or obsolete, and we may not be successful in
marketing our product candidates against competitors.

In addition, as a result of the expiration or successful challenge of our patent rights, we could face more litigation with respect to the validity
and/or scope of patents relating to our competitors’ products. The availability of our competitors’ products could limit the demand, and the price we are
able to charge, for any products that we may develop and commercialize.

Our product candidates and the process for administering our product candidates may cause undesirable side effects or have other
properties that could delay or prevent their regulatory approval, limit the commercial potential or result in significant negative consequences
following any potential marketing approval.

Our product candidates may cause undesirable side effects. Additionally, the administration process or related procedures also can cause
adverse side effects. Adverse events that occur in our trials may cause us, or cause regulatory authorities or others to order us to halt, delay or amend
preclinical development or clinical development of our product candidates and could result in more restrictive labeling or the denial of regulatory approval
of our product candidates for any or all targeted indications. Even if serious adverse events are unrelated to study treatment, such occurrences could
affect patient enrollment or the ability of enrolled patients to complete the trial. In addition, if any of our product candidates are tested or used in
combination with other drugs, these combinations may have additional side effects, which could be more severe than those caused by either therapy
alone.

In June 2022, we announced our strategic decision to discontinue development of lixivaptan for ADPKD including both the Phase 3 ACTION
Study and the open-label ALERT Study. The decision was based on a thorough reassessment of the commercial potential of lixivaptan as a potential
best-in-class therapy for patients with ADPKD, and the incremental development challenges and associated costs, following a recent observation of ALT
and AST elevations in one subject in the ALERT Study.

We also decided to discontinue development of ZF874 for the treatment of AATD following a report of an adverse event involving elevated liver
enzymes (“ALT and AST") in a PIMZ subject dosed with 5 mg/kg BID of ZF874 in our Phase 1 study. In November 2021, we reported that elevated liver
enzymes were observed in a subject dosed with 15 mg/kg BID of ZF874 in the first cohort of patients within Part B of the Phase 1 study. Based on the
results of the Phase 1 study observed to date, we have concluded that ZF874 is unlikely to achieve the desired target product profile.

Additionally, certain of our product candidates could cause undesirable side effects in clinical trials related to on-target toxicity. If on-target toxicity
is observed, or if our product candidates have characteristics that are unexpected, we may need to abandon their development or limit development to
more narrow uses or subpopulations in which the undesirable side effects or other characteristics are less prevalent, less severe or more acceptable
from a risk-benefit perspective. Many compounds that initially showed promise in early stage testing for treating cancer have later been found to cause
side effects that prevented further development of the compound.

Furthermore, clinical trials by their nature utilize a sample of the potential patient population. With a limited number of patients and limited
duration of exposure, rare and severe side effects of our product candidates or those of our competitors may only be uncovered when a significantly
larger number of patients have been exposed to the drug. While we believe that our product candidates have demonstrated manageable tolerability
profiles thus far in the target indications, there can be no assurance that it or any of our other product candidates will not cause more severe side effects
in a greater proportion of patients. In addition, some of our product candidates are intended to address limitations in current treatment approaches by
offering potentially greater tolerability. If we do not observe a favorable tolerability profile in testing of such product candidates that differentiate them from
competitors in the market, we may decide to suspend or terminate development of such candidates.

In addition, certain of our product candidates target diseases that are life-threatening or are associated with significant co-morbidities. For
example, some of our product candidates are designed to address cancers, an indication in which patients may undergo treatment with other therapies
such as chemotherapy, radiation, and/or other high dose or myeloablative treatments in the course of treatment of their disease, and may therefore
experience side effects or AEs, including death, that are unrelated to our product candidates. While these side effects or AEs may be unrelated to our
product candidates, they may still affect the success of our clinical trials. The inclusion of critically ill patients in our clinical trials may also result in deaths
or other adverse medical events due to underlying disease or to other therapies or medications that such patients may receive.

Additionally, if any of our product candidates receives marketing approval, FDA could require us to adopt REMS, to ensure that the benefits
outweigh its risks, which may include, among other things, a medication guide outlining the risks of the
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product for distribution to patients and a communication plan to health care practitioners. Furthermore, if we or others later identify undesirable side
effects caused by our product candidate, several potentially significant negative consequences could result, including:

» regulatory authorities may suspend or withdraw approvals of such product candidate;

« regulatory authorities may require additional warnings on the label;

* we may be required to change the way a product candidate is administered or conduct additional clinical trials;
* we could be sued and held liable for harm caused to patients; and

e our reputation may suffer.

Any of these events could prevent us from achieving or maintaining market acceptance of our product candidates and could significantly harm our
business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations.

We may not be able to submit INDs or IND amendments to commence additional clinical trials on the timelines we expect, and even if we are
able to, the FDA may not permit us to proceed.

Currently, most of the product candidates in our pipeline have not yet commenced clinical trials, and are in preclinical development and IND-
enabling activities. We may not be able to submit INDs for our product candidates on the timelines we expect. For example, we may experience
manufacturing delays or other delays with IND-enabling studies. Moreover, we cannot be sure that submission of an IND will result in the FDA allowing
further clinical trials to begin, or that, once begun, issues will not arise that suspend or terminate clinical trials. Additionally, even if such regulatory
authorities agree with the design and implementation of the clinical trials set forth in an IND, we cannot guarantee that such regulatory authorities will not
change their requirements in the future. These considerations also apply to new clinical trials we may submit as amendments to existing INDs or to a new
IND. Any failure to file INDs on the timelines we expect or to obtain regulatory approvals for our trials may prevent us from completing our clinical trials or
commercializing our products on a timely basis, if at all.

We are currently conducting and plan to conduct future clinical trials for certain product candidates outside the United States, and the FDA
and comparable foreign regulatory authorities may not accept data from such trials.

We are currently conducting and plan to conduct future clinical trials for certain product candidates outside the United States, including in Europe.
The acceptance of study data from clinical trials conducted outside the United States or another jurisdiction by the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory
authority may be subject to certain conditions or may not be accepted at all. The FDA will generally not consider the data from a foreign clinical trial not
conducted under an IND unless (i) the trial was well-designed and well-conducted in accordance with GCP requirements, including requirements for the
design, conduct, performance, monitoring, auditing, recording, analysis, and reporting of clinical trials in a way that provides assurance that the data and
reported results are credible and accurate and that the rights, safety, and well-being of trial subjects are protected; and (ii) the FDA is able to validate the
data from the trial through an on-site inspection, if necessary. In cases where data from foreign clinical trials are intended to serve as the basis for
marketing approval in the United States, the FDA will generally not approve the application on the basis of foreign data alone unless (i) the data are
applicable to the U.S. population and U.S. medical practice; (i) the trials were performed by clinical investigators of recognized competence; and (iii) the
data may be considered valid without the need for an on-site inspection by the FDA or, if the FDA considers such as inspection to be necessary, the FDA
is able to validate the data through an on-site inspection or other appropriate means. Additionally, the FDA's clinical trial requirements, including sufficient
size of patient populations and statistical powering, must be met. Many foreign regulatory authorities have similar approval requirements. In addition, such
foreign trials would be subject to the applicable local laws of the foreign jurisdictions where the trials are conducted. There can be no assurance that the
FDA or any comparable foreign regulatory authority will accept data from trials conducted outside of the United States or the applicable jurisdiction. If the
FDA or any comparable foreign regulatory authority does not accept such data, it would result in the need for additional trials, which could be costly and
time-consuming, and which may result in product candidates that we may develop not receiving approval for commercialization in the applicable
jurisdiction.

Even if we obtain and maintain approval for our product candidates from the FDA, we may never obtain approval for our product candidates
outside of the United States, which would limit our market opportunities and adversely affect our business.

Approval of a product candidate in the United States by the FDA does not ensure approval of such product candidate by regulatory authorities in
other countries or jurisdictions, and approval by one foreign regulatory authority does not ensure approval by regulatory authorities in other foreign
countries or by the FDA. Sales of our product candidates outside of the
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United States will be subject to foreign regulatory requirements governing clinical trials and marketing approval. Even if the FDA grants marketing
approval for a product candidate, comparable regulatory authorities of foreign countries also must approve the manufacturing and marketing of the
product candidates in those countries. Approval procedures vary among jurisdictions and can involve requirements and administrative review periods
different from, and more onerous than, those in the United States, including additional preclinical studies or clinical trials. In many countries outside the
United States, a product candidate must be approved for reimbursement before it can be approved for sale in that country. In some cases, the price that
we intend to charge for our products, if approved, is also subject to approval. We intend to submit a marketing authorization application to the EMA for
approval of our product candidates in the European Union, but obtaining such approval from the European Commission following the opinion of the EMA
is a lengthy and expensive process. We may also submit marketing applications to regulators in other jurisdictions, such as to the MHRA in the United
Kingdom. Even if a product candidate is approved, the FDA, the European Commission, the MHRA and other foreign regulatory authorities, as the case
may be, may limit the indications for which the product may be marketed, require extensive warnings on the product labeling or require expensive and
time-consuming additional clinical trials or reporting as conditions of approval. Regulatory authorities in countries outside of the United States and the
European Union also have requirements for approval of product candidates with which we must comply prior to marketing in those countries. Obtaining
foreign regulatory approvals and compliance with foreign regulatory requirements could result in significant delays, difficulties and costs for us and could
delay or prevent the introduction of our product candidates in certain countries.

Further, clinical trials conducted in one country may not be accepted by regulatory authorities in other countries. Also, regulatory approval for any
of our product candidates may be withdrawn. If we fail to comply with the regulatory requirements, our target market will be reduced and our ability to
realize the full market potential of our product candidates will be harmed and our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects will be
adversely affected.

We have received Fast Track designation for SerpinPC for the treatment of hemophilia B. We may seek Fast Track designation for any of our
other current or future product candidates. This designation may not lead to a faster development or regulatory review or approval process,
and does not increase the likelihood that our product candidates will receive marketing approval.

If a drug or biologic is intended for the treatment of a serious or life-threatening condition and the product demonstrates the potential to address
unmet medical needs for this condition, the product sponsor may apply for FDA Fast Track designation for a particular indication. In May 2023, we
received Fast Track designation from the FDA for SerpinPC for the treatment of hemophilia B, with or without inhibitors. We may seek Fast Track
designation for certain of our other current and future product candidates, but there is no assurance that the FDA will grant this status to any of our
proposed product candidates. The FDA has broad discretion whether or not to grant Fast Track designation, so even if we believe a particular product
candidate is eligible for this designation, there can be no assurance that the FDA would decide to grant it. Even for SerpinPC and any other product
candidate that may receive Fast Track designation, we may not experience a faster development process, regulatory review or approval compared to
conventional FDA procedures, and receiving a Fast Track designation does not provide assurance of ultimate FDA approval. In addition, the FDA may
withdraw Fast Track designation if it believes that the designation is no longer supported by data from our clinical development program. In addition, the
FDA may withdraw any Fast Track designation at any time.

We may seek accelerated approval for any of our current or future product candidates. Accelerated approval, even if granted, may not lead to
a faster commercial launch of the product and does not increase the likelihood that our product candidates will receive marketing approval.

We may seek approval of our product candidates, where applicable, under the FDA's accelerated approval program. A product may be eligible
for accelerated approval if it treats a serious or life-threatening condition, generally provides a meaningful advantage over available therapies, and
demonstrates an effect on a surrogate endpoint that is reasonably likely to predict clinical benefit or on a clinical endpoint that can be measured earlier
than irreversible morbidity or mortality, or IMM, that is reasonably likely to predict an effect on IMM or other clinical benefit. As a condition of accelerated
approval, the FDA likely would require that we perform adequate and well-controlled post-marketing clinical trials to confirm the product’s clinical benefit.
These confirmatory trials must be completed with due diligence. Under FDORA, the FDA is permitted to require, as appropriate, that a post-approval
confirmatory study or studies be underway prior to approval or within a specified time period after the date of approval for a product granted accelerated
approval. FDORA also requires sponsors to send updates to the FDA every 180 days on the status of such studies, including progress toward enrollment
targets, and the FDA must promptly post this information publicly. FDORA also gives the FDA increased authority to withdraw approval of a drug or
biologic granted accelerated approval on an expedited basis if the sponsor fails to conduct such studies in a timely manner, send the necessary updates
to the FDA, or if such post-approval studies fail to verify the drug’s predicted clinical benefit. Under
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FDORA, the FDA is empowered to take action, such as issuing fines, against companies that fail to conduct with due diligence any post-approval
confirmatory study or submit timely reports to the agency on their progress. In addition, the FDA currently requires, unless otherwise informed by the
agency, pre-approval of promotional materials for products receiving accelerated approval, which could adversely impact the timing of the commercial
launch of the product. Thus, even if we seek to utilize the accelerated approval program, we may not be able to obtain accelerated approval and, even if
we do, we may not experience a faster commercial launch of the product. In addition, receiving accelerated approval does not assure that the product’s
accelerated approval will eventually be converted to a traditional approval.

We may seek designation for a current or future platform as a designated platform technology, but we might not receive such designation,
and even if we do, such designation may not lead to a faster regulatory review or approval process.

We may seek designation for our current or future platform as a designated platform technology. Under FDORA, a platform technology
incorporated within or utilized by a drug or biological product is eligible for designation as a designated platform technology if (1) the platform technology
is incorporated in, or utilized by, a drug approved under an NDA or a biologic licensed under a BLA; (2) preliminary evidence submitted by the sponsor of
the approved drug or licensed biologic, or a sponsor that has been granted a right of reference to data submitted in the application for such drug or
biologic, demonstrates that the platform technology has the potential to be incorporated in, or utilized by, more than one drug or biologic without an
adverse effect on quality, manufacturing, or safety; and (3) data or information submitted by the applicable person indicates that incorporation or
utilization of the platform technology has a reasonable likelihood to bring significant efficiencies to the drug or biologic development or manufacturing
process and to the review process. A sponsor may request the FDA to designate a platform technology as a designated platform technology concurrently
with, or at any time after, submission of an IND application for a drug or biologic that incorporates or utilizes the platform technology that is the subject of
the request. If so designated, the FDA may expedite the development and review of any subsequent original NDA for a drug or BLA for a biologic that
uses or incorporates the platform technology. Even if we believe our current or future platform technology meets the criteria for such designation, the
FDA may disagree and instead determine not to grant such designation. In addition, the receipt of such designation for a platform technology does not
ensure that a drug or biologic will be developed more quickly or receive FDA approval. Moreover, the FDA may revoke a designation if the FDA
determines that a designated platform technology no longer meets the criteria for such designation.

Even if we receive regulatory approval of one or more of our product candidates, we would be subject to ongoing regulatory obligations and
continued regulatory review, which may result in significant additional expense and we may be subject to penalties if we fail to comply with
regulatory requirements or experience unanticipated problems with our product candidates.

Any regulatory approvals that we receive for our product candidates will require surveillance to monitor the safety and efficacy of the product
candidate. The FDA may also require a REMS in order to approve our product candidates, which could entail requirements for a medication guide,
physician communication plans or additional elements to ensure safe use, such as restricted distribution methods, patient registries and other risk
minimization tools. In addition, if the FDA or a comparable foreign regulatory authority approves our product candidates, the manufacturing processes,
labeling, packaging, distribution, adverse event reporting, storage, advertising, promotion, import, export and recordkeeping for our product candidates
will be subject to extensive and ongoing regulatory requirements. These requirements include submissions of safety and other post-marketing information
and reports, registration, as well as continued compliance with cGMPs, good laboratory practice (“GLP”) regulations and GCPs, for any clinical trials that
we conduct post-approval. In addition, manufacturers are required to comply with applicable product tracking and tracing requirements. Manufacturers
and other parties involved in the drug supply chain for prescription drug products must also notify the FDA of counterfeit, diverted, stolen and intentionally
adulterated products or products that are otherwise unfit for distribution in the United States. Later discovery of previously unknown problems with our
product candidates, including adverse events of unanticipated severity or frequency, or with our third-party manufacturers or manufacturing processes, or
failure to comply with regulatory requirements, may result in, among other things:

» restrictions on the marketing or manufacturing of our product candidates, withdrawal of the product from the market or voluntary or
mandatory product recalls;

» manufacturing delays and supply disruptions where regulatory inspections identify observations of noncompliance requiring remediation;

e revisions to the labeling, including limitation on approved uses or the addition of additional warnings, contraindications or other safety
information, including boxed warnings;

* imposition of a REMS, which may include distribution or use restrictions;
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* requirements to conduct additional post-market clinical trials to assess the safety of the product;
¢ fines, warning letters or holds on clinical trials;

« refusal by the FDA to approve pending applications or supplements to approved applications filed by us or suspension or revocation of
approvals;

» product seizure or detention, or refusal to permit the import or export of our product candidates; and

* injunctions or the imposition of civil or criminal penalties.

Additionally, under FDORA, sponsors of approved drugs and biologics must provide 6 months’ notice to the FDA of any changes in marketing
status, such as the withdrawal of a drug, and failure to do so could result in the FDA placing the product on a list of discontinued products, which would
revoke the product’s ability to be marketed.

The FDA's and other regulatory authorities’ policies may change and additional government regulations may be enacted that could prevent, limit
or delay regulatory approval of our product candidates. We cannot predict the likelihood, nature or extent of government regulation that may arise from
future legislation or administrative action, either in the United States or abroad. If we are slow or unable to adapt to changes in existing requirements or
the adoption of new requirements or policies, or if we are not able to maintain regulatory compliance, we may lose any marketing approval that we may
have obtained and we may not achieve or sustain profitability.

The market opportunities for our oncology product candidates may be relatively small since the patients who may potentially be treated with
our oncology product candidates are those who are ineligible for or have failed prior treatments, and our estimates of the prevalence of our
target patient populations may be inaccurate.

Cancer therapies are sometimes characterized by line of therapy (first line, second line, third line, fourth line, etc.), and the FDA often approves
new therapies initially only for a particular line or lines of use. When cancer is detected early enough, first line therapy is sometimes adequate to cure the
cancer or prolong life without a cure. Whenever first line therapy, usually chemotherapy, antibody drugs, tumor-targeted small molecules, hormone
therapy, radiation therapy, surgery, or a combination of these, proves unsuccessful, second line therapy may be administered. Second line therapies
often consist of more chemotherapy, radiation, antibody drugs, tumor-targeted small molecules, or a combination of these. Third line therapies can
include chemotherapy, antibody drugs and small molecule tumor-targeted therapies, more invasive forms of surgery, and new technologies. There is no
guarantee that our product candidates, even if approved as a second or third or subsequent line of therapy, would be approved for an earlier line of
therapy, and, prior to any such approvals, we may have to conduct additional clinical trials.

Our projections of both the number of people who have the cancers we are targeting, who may have their tumors genetically sequenced, as well
as the subset of people with these cancers in a position to receive a particular line of therapy and who have the potential to benefit from treatment with
our product candidates, are based on our beliefs and estimates. These estimates have been derived from a variety of sources, including scientific
literature, surveys of clinics, patient foundations or market research, and may prove to be incorrect. Further, new therapies may change the estimated
incidence or prevalence of the cancers that we are targeting. Consequently, even if our product candidates are approved for a second or third line of
therapy, the number of patients that may be eligible for treatment with our product candidates may turn out to be much lower than expected. In addition,
we have not yet conducted market research to determine how treating physicians would expect to prescribe a product that is approved for multiple tumor
types if there are different lines of approved therapies for each such tumor type.

If we decide in the future to develop our product candidates in combination with other therapies, such strategy may expose us to additional
risks.

We may in the future develop one or more of our product candidates in combination with one or more approved or unapproved therapies. Even if
any product candidate we develop were to receive marketing approval for use in combination with other approved therapies, the FDA, the EMA, the
MHRA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities outside of the United States could still revoke approval of the therapy used in combination with our
product. If the therapies used in combination with our product candidates are replaced as the standard of care for the indications we choose for any of our
product candidates, the FDA, the EMA, the MHRA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may require us to conduct additional clinical trials. The
occurrence of any of these risks could result in our own products, if approved, being removed from the market or being less successful commercially.
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Further, we will not be able to market and sell any product candidate we develop in combination with an unapproved cancer therapy for a
combination indication if that unapproved therapy does not ultimately obtain marketing approval either alone or in combination with our product. In
addition, unapproved cancer therapies face the same risks described with respect to our product candidates currently in development and clinical trials,
including the potential for serious adverse effects, delay in their clinical trials and lack of FDA approval.

If the FDA, EMA, MHRA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities do not approve these other products or revoke their approval of, or if safety,
efficacy, quality, manufacturing or supply issues arise with, the products we choose to evaluate in combination with the product candidate we develop, we
may be unable to obtain approval of or market such combination therapy.

Certain of our product candidates are expected to be used with a drug delivery system and thus may be regulated as a combination product
and may face additional challenges, risks and delays in the product development and regulatory approval process.

Certain of our product candidates may be used with a drug delivery system and thus may be regulated as a combination product. When
evaluating product candidates that utilize a specific drug delivery system or device, the FDA will evaluate the characteristics of that delivery system and
its functionality, as well as the potential for undesirable interactions between the drug and the delivery system, including the potential to negatively impact
the safety or effectiveness of the drug. The FDA review process can be more complicated for combination products, and may result in delays, particularly
if novel delivery systems are involved. Additionally, quality or design concerns with the delivery system could delay or prevent regulatory approval and
commercialization of devices.

Risks Related to our Reliance on Third Parties

We rely, and expect to continue to rely, on third parties to conduct our preclinical studies and clinical trials and if these third parties perform
in an unsatisfactory manner, our business could be substantially harmed.

We currently conduct and expect to continue to rely on third parties such as CROs to conduct our clinical trials. However, we do not currently
have the ability to independently conduct large-scale clinical trials, such as a Phase 3 clinical trial, without assistance of third parties.

We have relied upon and plan to continue to rely upon medical institutions, clinical investigators, contract laboratories and other third parties,
such as CROs, to conduct or assist us in conducting GCP-compliant clinical trials on our product candidates properly and on time, and may not currently
have all of the necessary contractual relationships in place to do so. Once we have established contractual relationships with such third-party CROs, we
will have only limited control over their actual performance of these activities.

We and our CROs and other vendors are required to comply with cGMP, GCP and GLP which are regulations and guidelines enforced by the
FDA, the Competent Authorities of the Member States of the European Union and any comparable foreign regulatory authorities for all of our product
candidates in preclinical and clinical development. Regulatory authorities enforce these regulations through periodic inspections of trial sponsors,
principal investigators, clinical trial sites and other contractors. Although we rely on CROs to conduct any current or planned GLP-compliant preclinical
studies and GCP-compliant clinical trials and have limited influence over their actual performance, we remain responsible for ensuring that each of our
preclinical studies and clinical trials is conducted in accordance with its investigational plan and protocol and applicable laws and regulations, and our
reliance on the CROs does not relieve us of our regulatory responsibilities. If we or any of our CROs or vendors fail to comply with applicable regulations,
the data generated in our preclinical studies and clinical trials may be deemed unreliable and the FDA, EMA, MHRA or any comparable foreign regulatory
agency may require us to perform additional preclinical studies and clinical trials before approving our marketing applications. We cannot assure you that
upon inspection by a given regulatory agency, such regulatory agency will determine that all of our clinical trials comply with GCP regulations. In addition,
our clinical trials must be conducted with products produced under cGMP requirements. Our failure to comply with these requirements may require us to
repeat clinical trials, which would delay the regulatory approval process.

While we will have agreements governing their activities, our CROs will not be our employees, and we will not be able to control whether or not
they devote sufficient time and resources to our future preclinical and clinical programs. These CROs may also have relationships with other commercial
entities, including our competitors, for whom they may also be conducting clinical trials, or other drug development activities which could harm our
business. We face the risk of potential unauthorized disclosure or misappropriation of our intellectual property by CROs, which may reduce our trade
secret protection and allow our potential competitors to access and exploit our proprietary technology. CROs also may use our proprietary
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information and intellectual property in such a way as to result in litigation or other intellectual property-related proceedings that could jeopardize or
invalidate our proprietary information and intellectual property. If our CROs do not successfully carry out their contractual duties or obligations, fail to meet
expected deadlines, or if the quality or accuracy of the clinical data they obtain is compromised due to the failure to adhere to our clinical protocols or
regulatory requirements or for any other reason, our clinical trials may be extended, delayed or terminated, the clinical data generated in our clinical trials
may be deemed unreliable, and we may not be able to obtain regulatory approval for, or successfully commercialize any product candidate that we
develop. As a result, our financial results and the commercial prospects for any product candidate that we develop would be harmed, our costs could
increase, and our ability to generate revenue could be delayed.

If our relationships with these CROs terminate, we may not be able to enter into arrangements with alternative CROs or do so on commercially
reasonable terms. Switching or adding additional CROs involves substantial cost and requires management time and focus, and could delay
development and commercialization of our product candidates. In addition, there is a natural transition period when a new CRO commences work. As a
result, delays occur, which can negatively impact our ability to meet our desired clinical development timelines. Though we intend to carefully manage our
relationships with our CROs, there can be no assurance that we will not encounter challenges or delays in the future or that these delays or challenges
will not have a negative impact on our business and financial condition.

We could experience manufacturing problems that result in delays in our development or commercialization of our programs or otherwise
harm our business.

The manufacturing processes our CMOs use to produce our and our affiliates’ product candidates are complex. Several factors could cause
production interruptions, including inability to develop novel manufacturing processes, equipment malfunctions, facility contamination, raw material
shortages or contamination, natural disasters, disruption in utility services, human error or disruptions in the operations of our suppliers, including
acquisition of the supplier by a third party or declaration of bankruptcy. The expertise required to manufacture these product candidates may be unique to
a particular CMO, and as a result, it would be difficult and time consuming to find an alternative CMO.

Some of our product candidates include biologics, some of which have physical and chemical properties that cannot be fully characterized. As a
result, assays of the finished product may not be sufficient to ensure that the product is consistent from lot-to-lot or will perform in th